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WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K
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Annual Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of th Securities Exchange Act of 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012
Or
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For the transition period from to

Commission File No. 0-23047
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Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(IhefAct:
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None
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Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuiegd to file reports pursuant to Section 13 o) % the Act Yes[O No

Note —Checking the box above will not relieve any regist required to file reports pursuant to SectiBrod 15(d) of the Exchange Act from their obligaso
under those Sections.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant @b filed all reports required to be filed by Secti® or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of418@ring
the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter pahatithe registrant was required to file such reg)pand (2) has been subject to such filing neguents for
the past 90 days. Yex] No[

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lidsmtted electronically and posted on its corpokéebsite, if any, every Interactive Data File reqdito be
submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of R&gol&-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the pding 12 months (or for such shorter period that th
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlaage accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, aaccelerated filer or a smaller reporting comp&8se
definition of “large accelerated filer”, “acceleedtfiler” and “smaller reporting company” in Rul2kt2 of the Exchange Act. (check one): Large Acedéal
Filer O Accelerated FilerxI Non-Accelerated Filerd Smaller Reporting Compariy

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsbell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the BExge Act) Yesl No
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The aggregate market value of the voting and ndmg@ommon stock held by non-affiliates of theisérgnt, based upon the closing sale price of tmeroon
stock on June 30, 2012 as reported on the Nasd#zpQVarket was approximately $147,685,687.

As of February 15, 2013 the registrant had outstan®ll,642,520 shares of common stock.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The following document is incorporated herein bfgrence:

Document Parts Into Which Incorporated
Proxy Statement for the Company’s 2013 Annual Part Il
Meeting of Stockholders
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Iltem 1. Business

Certain statements in this Annual Report on ForrKl@hcluding certain statements contained in “Besis” and “Managemenst’
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition dresults of Operations,” constitute “forward-lookistatements'within the meaning «
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as aneeindnd Section 21E of the Securities Exchangeofd934, as amended. The word:
phrases “can be,” “expects,” “may affect,” “may ded,” “believes,” “estimate,” “projectand similar words and phrases are intende
identify such forward-looking statements. Such famMooking statements are subject to various known @amdhown risks and uncertaint
and SIGA cautions you that any forwdabking information provided by or on behalf of $1Gs not a guarantee of future performa
SIGA's actual results could differ materially frotinose anticipated by such forwdabking statements due to a number of factors, sof
which are beyond SIGA’ control, including, but not limited to, (i) thésk that potential products that appear promisiogStGA or it
collaborators cannot be shown to be efficaciousafe in subsequent patinical or clinical trials, (ii) the risk that Si& or its collaborators wi
not obtain appropriate or necessary governmentaloapls to market potential products, (iii) thekrihat SIGA may not be able to obt
anticipated funding for its development projectsotiner needed funding, (iv) the risk that SIGA mat be able to secure funding fr
anticipated governmental contracts and grantsth@isk that SIGA may not be able to secure oomef sufficient legal rights in its produc
including patent protection, (vi) the risk that aclyallenge to SIGA patent and other property rights, if adverselieeined, could affe
SIGA'’s business and, even if determined favorabbyld be costly, (vii) the risk that regulatory végments applicable to SIG#&’product
may result in the need for further or additionaltiregy or documentation that will delay or preveetleng or obtaining needed approval
market these products, (viii) the risk that onemmre protests could be filed and upheld in wholengrart or other governmental action tal
in either case leading to a delay of performanaeusIGA’s contract (the “BARDA Contractlyith the U.S. Biomedical Advanced Rese:
and Development Authority (‘BARDA”) to deliver a sifpox antiviral to the U.S. Strategic National &pile (the “Strategic Stockpile™dr
other governmental contracts, (ix) the risk thad 8ARDA Contract is modified or canceled at theuest or requirement of the U
government, (X) the risk that the adverse portiohshe posttrial decision by the Delaware Chancery Court ie thigation brought b
PharmAthene, Inc. will be upheld in further prodegd, including any appeal or crosppeal, or that the favorable portions will be nfiedi,
(xi) the risk that the volatile and competitive una of the biotechnology industry may hamper Si&éfforts to develop or market its produ
(xii) the risk that changes in domestic and foreggwnomic and market conditions may adversely af¢GA’s ability to advance its resea
or its products, (xiii) the effect of federal, ®tair foreign regulation, including drug regulatiand international trade regulation, on SIGA’
businesses, (xiv) the risk that our outstandinglridldness may make it more difficult to obtain ddal financing, and (xv) the risk that
U.S. governmens responses (including inaction) to the nationa global economic situation, including possible rses of action related
the so-called “sequester” may adversely affect S§3AIsiness. All such forwarkdoking statements are current only as of the datevhict
such statements were made. SIGA does not undeatakeobligation to update publicly any forwaabking statement to reflect events
circumstances after the date on which any suckmgit is made or to reflect the occurrence of ucipated events.

” ow " ow " ow "o« ” ow

Overview

” ou ”

SIGA Technologies, Inc. is referred to throughdis report as “SIGA,” “the Company,” “we” or “us.”

We are a pharmaceutical company specializing irdthaslopment and commercialization of pharmacelusicitions for some of tl
most lethal disease-causing pathogens in the woslthallpox, Ebola, dengue, Lassa fever and otheratang viruses. Our business i
discover, develop, manufacture and commercialipgslto prevent and treat these higlerity threats. Our mission is to disarm dread#él

diseases and create robust, modern biodefenseecma#sures.
Lead Product - Arestvyr ™

Our lead product, Arestvyr (tecovirimat), also kmoas ST-246®is an orally administered antiviral drug that tasgerthopoxviruse
On May 13, 2011, we signed the BARDA Contract parguo which we agreed to deliver two million casf Arestvyr to the Strate
Stockpile. The base contract, worth approximatetg3million, includes $54 million related to devetoent and supportive activities ¢
contains various options to be exercised at BARDdiscretion. The period of performance for develept and supportive activities runs u
2020. As originally issued, the BARDA Contract mgéd an option for the purchase of up to 12 millamditional courses of Arestv
however, following a protest by a competitor of thempany, BARDA issued a contract modification amel 24, 2011 pursuant to whicl
deleted the option to purchase the additional esurEinder the BARDA Contract as modified, BARDA fageed to buy from SIGA 1
million courses of Arestvyr. Additionally, SIGA wilcontribute to BARDA 300,000 courses manufactuggomarily using federal func
provided by the U.S. Department of Health and Hui®arvices (“HHS"under prior development contracts. The BARDA Carttees modifie
also contains options that will permit SIGA to donk its work on pediatric and geriatric formulasoof the drug as well as use of
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Arestvyr for smallpox prophylaxis. As discussedtem 3, “Legal Proceedingsthe amount of profits we will retain pursuant te tRARDA
Contract is subject to the judgment entered bylxelware Court of Chancery in PharmAthene's acigainst SIGA and the outcome of
pending appeal and cross-appeal.

We expect that Arestvyr will be among the first nemallimolecule drugs delivered to the Strategic Stockpiteler the Proje
BioShield Act of 2004 (“Project BioShield”Arestvyr is an investigational product that is watrently approved by the U.S. Food and [
Administration (“FDA”) as a treatment of smallpox any other indication. Nevertheless, the FDA hasighated Arestvyr for “fadtack
status,”creating a path for expedited FDA review and evantagulatory approval. Arestvyr is a novel, pagentrug that is easy to stc
transport and administer. There could be severd e an effective smallpox antiviral drug: towed mortality and morbidity in those infec
with the smallpox virus; to protect the nonmune who risk developing smallpox following viragposure and; as an adjunct to the sma
vaccine in order to reduce the frequency of seramlierse events due to the live virus used forimation.

We have made steady regulatory progress with FBAldvember 2005, we filed an Investigational Newd¢‘IND") application fo
Arestvyr with FDA. In June 2006, we completed thistfhuman clinical safety study of Arestvyr. ThHeady was a doublélind, randomize(
placebo controlled and ascending single dose stirdyate 2006, Arestvyr received Orphan Drug desigm for both the treatment &
prevention of smallpox, and in late 2010, recei@g@han Drug designation for the broader indicatbtreatment of orthopoxvirus infectic
(vaccinia, variola, monkeypox and cowpox). SIGA'BaBe | clinical trial in 2007 was a 21-day, esdatatmultipledose, Phase | safe
tolerability and pharmacokinetics study of Arestwatrthree different dosages in healthy voluntebrsAugust 2008, a Phase | study
performed to compare Arestvyr polymorph form | tonfi V. We submitted the final Clinical Study Repfwt that study to the FDA in M
2009. In December 2009, we completed a Phase Itipteuldose clinical trial to evaluate the safetyletability and pharmacokinetics
Arestvyr when administered as a single, daily daae for fourteen days. In 2011, we completed thdektional monkeypox efficacy studies
non-human primates to support dose selection, treatafésrt lesion onset and dose duration. The remortthese studies have been subm
to FDA for review.

In December 2011, FDA convened an Advisory Committe consider proposals for using a surrogate pakarus model and
determine what elements of the “animal rule” cdogti “enough”evidence for approval of a drug for the treatmdrgrallpox. The Advisor
Committees recommendation confirmed that the monkeypox, itpbk and ectromelia models, especially in combargt could suitabl
provide appropriate evidence of efficacy for treattof smallpox.

Product Candidates

Dengue Antiviral : Dengue fever, dengue hemorrhagic fever, and demstpock syndrome are caused by one of four semmtgj
dengue virus of the genus Flavivirus. The World IHe®rganization considers Dengue to be one ofntlest important arthropolderne vira
disease with an estimated %00 million people infected with the virus each ryékhere is currently no approved antiviral or viaecfor the
treatment or prevention of dengue-mediated diséAsecurrently have multiple drug series in the girical development stage, each v
activity against all four serotypes of virus. Corapds from these series have recently shown effisa@y murine model of disease and
undergoing optimization through medicinal chemistry

Anti-Arenavirus Drug: Arenaviruses are hemorrhagic fever viruses thae ltmeen classified as Category A agents by U.S.eCefd
Disease Control and Prevention (“CDGQlye to the great risk that they pose to public theahd national safety. The hemorrhagic f
arenaviruses (Lassa virus in Africa and Junin, Migch Guanarito and Sabia viruses in South Amettizaje no available FDApprove:
treatment. In order to combat this threat, ourrdisés have identified a lead pecénical drug candidate, which has demonstratedifaant
antiviral activity in cell culture assays againsiska virus. Lassa fever is an acute viral illnegvaglent in West Africa with an estima
100,000 to 300,000 infections. We have demonstrdtehpeutic efficacy of our lead candidate agdiassa fever in several animal challe
studies. We also have programs against other hbagia fever viruses, including Rift Valley Fevelyrhphocytic choriomeningitis virus a
Ebola. We believe that the availability of hemogitafever virus antiviral drugs will address na@bmand global security needs by acting
significant deterrent and defense against the fiaesoaviruses as weapons of bioterrorism or bitaver

Broad Spectrum Antiviral : We continue research and development efforts diatedeveloping a comprehensive biodefense ag
those microbial agents most likely to be deploysdialogical weapons. A broad spectrum antivirallsichave great utility against natura
intentional introduction of these agents into pagioh centers, as well as provide a treatment ppitioareas where these pathogens
endemic. Screening for antivirals against spedfizC Category A and B pathogens using our higloughput screening program led to
identification of a unique collection of compoundih broad spectrum antiviral activity. Compoundshapotent, nortoxic activity against
diversity of virus families are currently being cheterized with respect to antiviral mechanismfsaation. Our cheminformatics tools al
being employed to explore and determine structatieity relationships within the lead compound seriTo date, we have documented sul
micromolar activity of a broad spectrum
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antiviral candidate against viruses in the Poxaieid Filoviridae, Bunyaviridae, Arenaviridae, Flavidae, Togaviridae, Retroviridae &
Picornaviridae families.

Market for Biological Defense Programs

The market for biodefense countermeasures refieetinued awareness of the threat of global texna biowarfare activity. The U.
government is the largest source of development puodurement funding for academic institutions dvidpharmaceutical compan
conducting biodefense research or developing vascimantinfectives and immunotherapies directed at poterdigents of bioterror
biowarfare. U.S. government spending on biodefgmegrams includes development funding awarded btjoNal Institute of Allergy an
Infectious Diseases (“NIAID"), BARDA and Departmeot Defense (“DoD”),and procurement of countermeasures by BARDA, CDd
DoD.

Project BioShield, which became law in 2004, autte® the procurement of countermeasures for biokdgchemical, radiological a
nuclear attacks for the Strategic Stockpile, whik national repository of medical assets and oareasures designed to provide fed
state and local public health agencies with medscgplies needed to treat and protect those affduyeterrorist attacks, natural disast
industrial accidents and other public health emeeiges. Project BioShield provided appropriation$9f6 billion to be expended over ten y
and is set to expire in September 2013. The U.8emment is currently reviewing the amount and faffunding for future procurement
countermeasures once the 2004 legislation explies.Pandemic and All-Hazards Preparedness Act“Rheparedness Act” or “PAHPA’”
established BARDA as the agency responsible fordiwg procurement contracts for biomedical countasures under Project BioShield
for providing funding for advanced research andettgyment in the biodefense arena. The Preparedwtsaipplements the funding availa
under Project BioShield for radiological, nuclegngmical and biological countermeasures, and emgifigfectious disease threats. Advar
development funding for BARDA is provided throughnaal appropriations by Congress. The PreparedAesss being considered f
reauthorization by Congress; Congress also hasaliiigy to provide funding for countermeasure depehent and procurement withot
reauthorization in place. Congress also approiateual funding for CDC to procure medical asaets countermeasures for the Strat
Stockpile and for NIAID to conduct biodefense rasha

In addition to the U.S. government, we believe tbtiter potential additional markets for the salebmfdefense countermeast
include:

» foreign governments, including both defense andiptiealth agencie

» state and local governments, which may be intedeistehese products to protect, among others, eenesgresponders, such
police, fire and emergency medical personnel,

* healthcare providers, including hospitals and ctinani
e nongovernmental organizations and multinational congmrincluding transportation and security comps
Manufacturing

We use third parties known as Commercial Manufaogu®rganizations (“CMOs™o procure commercial raw materials and supy
and to manufacture Arestvyr. Our CMOs apply methad controls in facilities that are used for matiiring, processing, packaging
holding pharmaceuticals which conform to currenbdyjonanufacturing practices (“cGMP")he standard set by FDA for manufactur
pharmaceuticals intended for human use.

Technology for Discovery and Development
Antiviral Technology: Two Approaches

We have two approaches to the discovery and dewedop of new antiviral compounds: high-throughputesaing (*HTS”) anc
rational drug design. For HTS, we use whole cellyiinhibition assays, pseudotype virus inhibitagsays and validated target biochen
assays. We currently have anhouse library of 260,000 small molecule compouids thay be used for screening in these variouyssshis
strategy allows for both target-specific and tamgettral screening and identification of novel ainiv compounds. Compounds are
screened for toxicity in various cell lines to diepea therapeutic index (“TI"\which is the ratio of the concentration at which tompound
toxic to 50% of the cells (CC50) and the conceidradbf compound required to inhibit 50% of the @i{EC50) (T1 = CC50/EC50). Compoul
with an acceptable Tl are selected for chemicahupation and entered into the antiviral drug depehent pipeline.
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We use rational drug design to model structurevégtielationships and facilitate lead optimizatiohcompounds of interest.
Research Agreements

We obtain funding in the form of grants or contsaftom various agencies of the U.S. governmentugapsrt our research a
development activities. Currently, in addition teetBARDA Contract, we have one contract and twatgravith varying expiration dat
through July 2016 that provide for potential fut@ggregate research and development funding farifgperojects of approximately $1¢
million. This amount includes, among other thingstions that may or may not be exercised at the gb8ernmens discretion. Moreover, t
contracts and grants contain customary terms anditions and include the U.S. governmsntight to terminate or restructure a grant
convenience at any time. We have entered intodh@xfing collaborative research arrangements amdraots:

National Institutes of Health .

Smallpox antiviral drug development : In 2006, we were awarded a contract from NIH liegaapproximately $21 million for tt
continued development of S¥46, now also known as Arestvyr. In 2008, we werarded a $55.1 million contract from NIH to suppthr
development of additional formulations and orthopebated indications for S246. In 2008, the NIH increased an existing $16ibian
contract to $20.0 million. In August 2011, thesatcacts were restructured and transferred to BARDAhat $14.0 million was eligible
cover performance through February 2013. Subselyye¢hé period of performance for a portion of tfeenaining funds available under
contract was extended to August 2013. As of Decerdbe2012, $9.7 million remains available to uslemthe restructured contract.

In September 2009, we received a three-year, $8l@mPhase Il grant from NIH to fund the contirldevelopment of SP46 fol
the treatment of smallpox vaccine-related adveveats. This grant concluded in February 2013.

Anti-arenavirus drug development : In August 2011, we received ayBar grant of $7.7 million from NIH to continue fling for the
development of antiviral drugs for Lassa fever sir@s of December 31, 2012, there is $5.3 millivailable under this grant.

Dengue antiviral drug development : In May 2011, we received aygar grant of $6.5 million from NIH to continue filing for the
development of antiviral drugs for dengue. As otBmber 31, 2012, there is $4.0 million availabldamthis grant.

Broad spectrum antiviral drug development : In September 2009, we were awardedye@r, $1.7 million grant from NIAID to supp
the development of broad spectrum, smadllecule inhibitors of bunyaviruses. The grant weagrded under the American Recovery
Reinvestment Act of 2009 (the “Recovery AcfThis grant concluded in August 2011; as of Decentie2012, there were no remaining fu
available for the development of the drug undes grant.

Defense Threat Reduction Agency In February 2010, we were awarded a $2.9 miljjoant with options for up to $9.9 million frc
DTRA to support the prelinical development and IND filing of a broad sprem antiviral drug candidate. This award conclugdedpril 2011
consequently, as of December 31, 2012, there weeremaining funds available under this grant.

We receive cash payments from NIH and BARDA on antinly basis, as services are performed or goodpuanehased. Our curre
contract and grants do not include milestone paysaéimounts under contract and grant agreementsarguaranteed and can be cancel
any time for reasons such as mmrformance or convenience of the U.S. governmedt ik canceled, we will not receive funds for dadial
work under the agreements.

For a discussion of research and development egpesse Item 7, “ManagemeDiscussion and Analysis of Financial Condi
and Results of Operations.”

Competition

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries doaracterized by rapidly evolving technology antemse competition. O
competitors include most of the major pharmaceltompanies, each of which has financial, technécal marketing resources significa
greater than ours. Biotechnology and other pharotaa competitors include, but are not limited &anofi Pasteur SA (formerly Acamb
GlaxoSmithKline, Bavarian Nordic AS, Chimerix Inand Emergent BioSolutions. Academic institutiogsyernmental agencies and o
public and private research organizations are @dswlucting research activities and seeking patastegtion and may commercialize prodi
on their own or through joint ventures.
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Our biodefense product candidates face significanipetition for U.S. government funding for bottvelepment and procurement
medical countermeasures for biological, chemicallialogical and nuclear threats, diagnostic testsygtems, and other emerge
preparedness countermeasures.

Our commercial opportunities could be reduced oniehted if our competitors develop and commerz&lproducts that are sa
more effective, have fewer side effects, are morevenient or are less expensive than productsst@ahay develop. In addition, we may no
able to compete effectively if our product candédato not satisfy governmental procurement requrgs) particularly requirements of
U.S. government with respect to biodefense products

Human Resources and Research Facilities

As of February 1, 2013, we had 71 ftithe employees. None of our employees is covered bgllective bargaining agreement,
we consider our employee relations to be good. @search and development facilities are locate@adnvallis, Oregon, where we lei
approximately 32,800 square feet under a leaseeagnet signed in January 2007, as amended in May, 20 which expires in Decem
2017.

Intellectual Property and Proprietary Rights

Our commercial success will depend in part on daility to obtain and maintain patent protection faur proprietary technologie
drug targets and potential products and to presewetrade secrets. Because of the substantiatHesfgtime and expense associated
bringing potential products through the developmaamd regulatory clearance processes to reach thieetpkace, the pharmaceutical indu
places considerable importance on obtaining patedt trade secret protection. The patent positidnsharmaceutical and biotechnolc
companies can be highly uncertain and involve cempégal and factual questions. No consistent palegarding the breadth of clai
allowed in biotechnology patents has emerged te. detcordingly, we cannot predict the type and eixté claims allowed in these patents.

We are exclusive owner of 10 U.S. patents. We Beexclusive owner of 2 U.S. provisional patentlagations, 21 U.S. utility pate
applications, 2 international PCT patent applicgaiand 118 foreign patent applications.

The following are our patent positions as of Decen#i, 2012:

Number
PATENTS Owned by Patent Expiration Dates
SIGA
uU.S. 10 2024 (1), 2026 (2), 2027 (3), 2028 (3), 2029 (1)
South Africa 2 2027(1), 2028 (1)
OAPI (African Intellectual Property
Organization) 4 2027(1), 2028 (2), 2029 (1)
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Number
APPLICATIONS Owned by
SIGA
U.S. applications 21
U.S. provisionals 2
PCT 2
Australia 11
Canada 13
Europe 14
Japan 12
Mexico 9
South Africa 3
ARIPO (African Regional Intellectual Property

Organization) 6
OAPI 2
All Other Jurisdictions 48

We also rely upon trade secret protection for camfidential and proprietary information. No assuarcan be given that otl
companies will not independently develop substintegjuivalent proprietary information and techréguor otherwise gain access to our t
secrets or that we can meaningfully protect owdrsecrets.

FDA regulations require that patented drugs be salder brand names that comply with various regrat We must develop a
make efforts to protect these brand names for eholr products in order to avoid product piracyl & secure exclusive rights to these b
names. We may expend substantial funds in devedoaird securing rights to adequate brand namesuopmducts. We currently ha
proprietary trademark rights in SIGA®, Arestvi¥, ST-246®and other brands used by us in the United Statg<ariain foreign countrie
but we may have to develop additional trademarktsign order to comply with regulatory requiremenf¢e consider securing adeqt
trademark rights to be important to our business.

Government Regulation

Regulatory Approval Process Regulation by governmental authorities in the UhiStates and other countries is a significant f
in the production and marketing of any biopharmécaliproduct that we may develop. The nature dmdextent to which such regulati
may apply to us will vary depending on the natur@my such product. Virtually all of our potentislopharmaceutical products will reqt
regulatory approval by governmental agencies pidonongovernmental commercialization. In particular, hanmtherapeutic products
subject to rigorous prehinical and clinical testing and other approvabgedures by FDA and similar health authoritiesdreign countrie:
Various federal statutes and regulations also goweerinfluence the manufacturing, safety, labelisiprage, record keeping and marketin
such products. The process of obtaining these apfg@and the subsequent compliance with appropfederal and foreign statutes
regulations requires the expenditure of substargsdurces.

In order to test clinically, and to produce and kearproducts for diagnostic or therapeutic useommany must comply wi
mandatory procedures and safety standards estadhlishFDA and comparable agencies in foreign c@stBefore beginning human clini
testing of a potential new drug in the United State company must file an IND application and reeeilearance from FDA. An IN
application is a summary of the prknical studies that were conducted to charactetltze drug, including toxicity and safety stuc
information on the drug composition and the manufacturing and qualitytrmbiprocedures used to produce the drug, as well discussion
the human clinical studies that are being proposed.

The pre-marketing clinical program required for mgyal by FDA for a new drug typically involves an-consuming and costly three-
phase process. In Phase |, trials are conductddarsimall number of healthy subjects to determeeetarly safety profile, the pattern of d
distribution, metabolism and elimination. In Phéisérials are conducted with small groups of patgeafflicted with a target disease in orde
determine preliminary efficacy, optimal dosages amganded evidence of safety. In Phase lll, laggdes multicenter comparative tria
which may include both controlled and uncontrolktddies, are conducted with patients afflicted vétharget disease in order to proy
enough data for statistical proof of efficacy aaéesy required by FDA and other authorities.
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FDA closely monitors the progress of each of thredlphases of clinical testing and may, in itsr@ion, reevaluate, alter, suspen
terminate the testing based on the data that hexs @ecumulated to that point and its assessmeaheafsk/benefit ratio to the patients invol
in the testing. Estimates of the total time tydicakquired for carrying out such clinical testingry between two and ten years. U
completion of such clinical testing, a company tgtly submits a New Drug Application (“NDAfo FDA that summarizes the results
observations of the drug during the clinical tegtiBased on its review of the NDA, FDA will deciddether to approve the drug. This rev
process can be quite lengthy, and approval foptbduction and marketing of a new pharmaceuticatipct can require a number of years
substantial funding. There can be no assuranceattyaapproval will be granted on a timely basistiéll.

FDA amended its regulations, effective June 30,22@0 include the “animal ruleih circumstances that would permit the typ
clinical testing regime to approve certain new damgl biological products used to reduce or prevleattoxicity of chemical, biologic:
radiological, or nuclear agents not otherwise radlyipresent for use in humans based on evidensafety in healthy subjects and evidenc
effectiveness derived only from appropriate anistatlies and any additional supporting data. FDAihdiated that approval for therape!
use of Arestvyr will be determined under the “arlimge.”

Once the product is approved for sale, FDA regofetigovern the production process and marketingitées, and a postrarketing
testing and surveillance program may be requirethdaitor a product usage and effects. Product approvals may be raithdif complianc
with regulatory standards is not maintained. Matlyeo countries in which products developed by ugy rha marketed impose simi
regulatory processes.

FDA regulations also make available an alternatiggulatory mechanism that may lead to use of thmdymt under limite
circumstances. The Emergency Use Authorization @BUauthority allows the FDA Commissioner to strengthtes public health protectio
against biological, chemical, radiological and maclagents that may be used to attack the Amepieaple or the U.S. armed forces. Under
authority, the FDA Commissioner may allow medicalictermeasures to be used in an emergency to diagtreat or prevent serious or life:
threatening diseases or conditions caused by sgeht@awhen appropriate findings are made concerfiagnature of the emergency,
availability of adequate and approved alternativas] the quality of available data concerning thegdcandidate under consideration
emergency use. We have provided data to FDA to@tgm EUA for Arestvyr in the event of a smallpattack. In November 2012, the C
filed an IND application for use of Arestvyr in ergency situations until an EUA is in place. In Dexeer 2012, CDC received &dfe t
proceed” letter from FDA for this IND.

Legislation and Regulation Related to BioterrorismCounteragents and Pandemic Preparednes®ecause some of our di
candidates are intended for the treatment of désetisat may result from acts of bioterrorism omi@dare or for pandemic preparedness,
may be subject to the specific legislation and ke&tipn described below and elsewhere in this Aniegdort on Form 10-K.

Project BioShield. Project BioShield and related 2006 federal legistaprovide procedures for biodefensdated procurement a
awarding of research grants, making it easier fefSHo commit funds to countermeasure projects.detdBioShield provides alternat
procedures under the Federal Acquisition Regulatiba general rubric for acquisition of goods aedviges by the U.S. government,
procuring property or services used in performiagministering or supporting biomedical countermeaswsearch and development
addition, if the Secretary of HHS deems that thisra pressing need, Project BioShield authorizesSbcretary to use an expedited a
process, rather than the normal peer review prodesgrants, contracts and cooperative agreenratased to biomedical countermeas
research and development activity.

Under Project BioShield, the Secretary of HHS, wilte concurrence of the Secretary of the DepartroEhtomeland Security al
upon the approval of the President, can contrapuitohase unapproved countermeasures for the @t&eockpile in specified circumstanc
Congress is notified of a recommendation for at8tfia Stockpile purchase after Presidential apgrdveoject BioShield specifies tha
company supplying the countermeasure to the Sicattpckpile is paid on delivery of a substantiaktppn of the countermeasure. To
eligible for purchase under these provisions, ther&ary of HHS must determine that there are @afit and satisfactory clinical results
research data, including data, if available, fram-ginical and clinical trials, to support a reasoleatonclusion that the countermeasure
qualify for approval or licensing within eight ysarProject BioShield also allows the Secretary &fSHto authorize the emergency us
medical products that have not yet been approveeld. To exercise this authority, the SecretariibfS must conclude that:

» the agent for which the countermeasure is desigian cause serious or lifereatening diseas

» the product may reasonably be believed to be é@ffeat detecting, diagnosing, treating or prevegtine diseas
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« the known and potential benefits of the productvaigh its known and potential risks; ¢

« there is no adequate alternative to a productishegpproved and availak

Although this provision permits the Secretary of $kb circumvent FDA approval (entirely, or in paiidy marketing, its use in tt
manner would likely be limited to rare circumstasicEhe Secretary of HHS concluded that, prior tarawof the BARDA Contract in M
2011, ST-246, now also known as Arestvyr, will giyalvithin eight years for approval by FDA for thegreutic use against smallpox.

Public Readiness and Emergency Preparedness Adthe Public Readiness and Emergency PreparednessrAREP Act, provide
immunity for manufacturers from claims under statefederal law for “loss” arising out of the adnstration or use of acbvere
countermeasure.” However, injured persons may kstitig a suit for “willful misconduct’against the manufacturer under some circumste
“Covered countermeasures” include security countasures and “qualified pandemic or epidemic pradueicluding products intended
diagnose or treat pandemic or epidemic diseaseayedlsas treatments intended to address conditi@usead by such products. For tt
immunities to apply, the Secretary of HHS must ésaudeclaration in cases of public health emergemncigredible risk”of a future publi
health emergency. Since 2007, the Secretary of hik$Sssued 8 declarations under the PREP Act tegirfrom liability countermeasures t
are necessary to prepare the nation for potendiatigmics or epidemics, including a declaration etofer 10, 2008 that provides immui
from tort liability as it relates to smallpox coenmneasures.

Foreign Regulation. As noted above, in addition to regulations in theited States, we might be subject to a variety avéifyr
regulations governing clinical trials and commersies and distribution of our drug candidateseWr or not we obtain FDA approval fc
product, we may have to obtain approval of a prodhycthe comparable regulatory authorities of fgrecountries before we can comme
clinical trials or marketing of the product in tlosountries. The actual time required to obtaimreace to market a product in a partic
foreign jurisdiction may vary substantially, basggbn the type, complexity and novelty of the pharewtical drug candidate, the spec
requirements of that jurisdiction, and in some ¢des whether FDA has previously approved the dimgmarketing. The requiremel
governing the conduct of clinical trials, marketiagthorization, pricing and reimbursement vary froountry to country. Certain forei
jurisdictions, including the European Union, hawmpied biodefen-specific regulation akin to that available in theitdd States such a
procedure similar to the “animal rule” promulgatadFDA.

Regulations Regarding Government ContractingThe status of an organization as a government actotr in the United States ¢
elsewhere means that the organization is also cutgjevarious statutes and regulations, includimg Eederal Acquisition Regulation, wh
governs the procurement of goods and services bycies of the United States. These governing ssamd regulations can impose stri
penalties than those normally applicable to comiakmontracts, such as criminal and civil damagaiility and suspension and debarn
from future government contracting. In additionyguant to various statutes and regulations, govemimwontracts can be subject to unila
termination or modification by the government fangenience in the United States and elsewhereiletbtauditing requirements, statuto
controlled pricing, sourcing and subcontractingrieions and statutorily mandated processes fardichting contract disputes.

Availability of Reports and Other Information

We file annual, quarterly, and current reports xgretatements, and other documents with the Séesiéind Exchange Commiss
(“SEC”) under the Securities Exchange Act of 198% (‘Exchange Act”)The public may read and copy any material thatilgesfith the SE(
at the SEGS Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Wgghin D.C. 20549. The public may obtain informatamthe operation of tl
Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at (8BL-8330. Also, the SEC maintains an Internet websigd tontains reports, proxy &
information statements, and other information rday issuers, including us, that file electronigaliith the SEC. The public can obtain .
document that we file with or furnish to the SEGQvatw.sec.gov.

In addition, our Company website can be found anltiiernet at www.siga.com. The website contaifigrination about us and ¢
operations. Copies of each of our filings with 8 C on Form 10-K, Form 10-Q, and FornK8and all amendments to those reports, c¢
viewed and downloaded free of charge as soon a®mahly practicable after the reports and amendsmara electronically filed with
furnished to the SEC. To view the reports, accesa/wiga.com, click on “Investor Relations” and “&ircial Information.”

The following corporate governance related docusare also available on our website:

e Audit Committee Charte
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e Compensation Committee Char

* Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee €h

» Code of Ethics and Business Cond

* Procedure for Sending Communications to the BoaRirectors

e Procedures for Security Holder Submission of NomaiigagRecommendations; a

* 2004 Policy on Confidentiality of Information anéd&irities Trading

To review these documents, access www.siga.contlaskdon “Investor Relations” and “Corporate Govance.”

Any of the above documents can also be obtaingdiirt by any shareholder upon request to the SagreBIGA Technologies, Inc., 35 Eas!
nd Street, New York, New York 10065.
Item 1A. Risk Factors

This report contains forward-looking statements atiter prospective information relating to futuneelets. These forwarkboking
statements and other information are subject & r@d uncertainties that could cause our actsaltseto differ materially from our historic

results or currently anticipated results includihg following:

Risks Related to Our Dependence on U.S. Governme@bntracts and Grants

We currently expect to derive substantially all otir foreseeable future revenue from sales of Argstunder the BARDA Contract i
addition to contracts and grants from various agees of the U.S. government. If BARDA demand for Ateyr is reduced, our busine:
financial condition and operating results could baaterially harmed.

Our BARDA Contract does not necessarily increase ltkelihood that we will secure future comparablentracts with the U..
government. The success of our business and ouatope results for the foreseeable future are sultistly dependent on the terms of
Arestvyr sales to the U.S. government, includirigegoper course, the number and size of doses auise and the timing of deliveries.

Furthermore, substantially all of our revenuestfer years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2&4gatively, were derived frc
contracts and grants other than the BARDA Contrat. current revenue is primarily derived from caot work being performed for NIH a
BARDA under grants and one major development cohseheduled substantially to conclude in Augugt®0rhere can be no assurance
we will receive the revenue from the BARDA Contrattthe time periods we anticipate or at all, cattlve will be able to secure futi
contracts or grants. Failure to receive such regamsecure such contracts or grants could haegleerse effect on our results of operations.

The pricing under our fixedprice government contracts and grants is based atireates of the time, resources and expenses raglix
perform these contracts and grants. If our estimatare not accurate, we may not be able to earn deguate return or may incur a lo
under these arrangements.

Our existing contract with BARDA for Arestvyr inales fixedprice components. We expect that our future cotdrand grants wi
the U.S. government for Arestvyr as well as consramd grants for biodefense product candidataswbasuccessfully develop also may
fixed-price arrangements. Under a fixedee contract or grant, we are required to delwar products at a fixed price regardless of thea
costs we incur and to absorb any cost in excetisedixed price. Estimating costs that are relategerformance in accordance with contra
grant specifications is difficult, particularly wieethe period of performance is over several ygas.failure to anticipate technical proble
estimate costs accurately or control costs duriegopmance of a fixed-price contract or grant cordduce the profitability of a fixegrice
contract or grant or cause a loss, which couldiin harm our operating results.
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Our U.S. government contracts and grants requiregming funding decisions by the government. Reduggdliscontinued funding of thes
contracts and grants could cause our financial cdtidn and operating results to suffer materially.

Our principal customer for Arestvyr at the presime is the U.S. government. We anticipate thatUtfe. government will also be 1
principal customer for angther biodefense product that we successfully d@gvedver its lifetime, a U.S. government prograochsas Proje
BioShield, may be implemented through the awardnahy different individual grants, contracts and camiracts. The funding of sol
government programs is subject to Congressionajoppiptions, generally made on a fiscal year bagen though a program may continue
several years. Our government customers are subjguilitical considerations and stringent budgetonstraints. Our government custon
are also subject to uncertainties as to continuedifhg of their budgets, as evidenced by the ctiwanertainty arising from the possibility
automatic spending cuts under the Budget ControloA@011, which budget cuts (also referred to sequestration”gould have an adver
impact on any funding we might obtain in the futubelditionally, governmentunded development grants and contracts typicahsist of
base period of performance followed by successpimo periods for performance of certain future\aiies. The value of the services provi
during such option periods, which are exercisabléhé sole discretion of the government may cautstithe majority of the total value of
underlying contract. If levels of government expitumeés and authorizations for biodefense decreashitt to programs in areas where we
not offer products or are not developing producididates, our business, revenues and operatinsresay suffer.

Our future business may be harmed as a result o tiovernment contracting process, which can be anpetitive bidding process that m
involve risks not present in the commercial conttangy process.

We expect that a significant portion of the busintsat we will seek in the near future will be undevernment grants, contracts
subcontracts, which may be awarded through conneetiidding. Competitive bidding for government traicts and grants presents a nur
of risks that are not typically present in the coanaial contracting process, which may include:

* the need to devote substantial time and atter@ionanagement and key employees to the preparatibids and proposals for
contracts and grants that may not be awarded to us;

» the need to estimate the resources and cost seeuttat will be required to perform any contractgoant that we might |
awarded,;

» the risk that the government will issue a requespfoposal to which we would not be eligible tepend

» the risk that third parties may submit protestsuio responses to requests for proposal that cegldltrin delays or withdrawals
those requests for proposal; and

» the expenses that we might incur and the delaysatbanight suffer if our competitors protest or Iidrage contract awards me
to us pursuant to competitive bidding, and the tigkt any such protest or challenge could resuthénresubmission of bids ba:
on modified specifications, or in termination, retian or modification of the awarded contract caryr

The U.S. government may choose to award futureractst and grants for the supply of smallpox aniwiand other biodefer
product candidates that we are developing to oompetitors instead of to us. If we are unable to particular contracts and grants, we may
be able to operate in the market for products #natprovided under those contracts and grants founaber of years. If we are unable
consistently obtain new contracts and grants onen@ended period, or if we fail to anticipatedlthe costs and resources that will be reqt
to secure such contracts and grants, our growdkesgly and our business, financial condition, argfaiing results could be materially adver
affected.

The success of our business with the U.S. governméepends on our compliance with regulations andlightions under our U.S
government contracts and grants and various fedestdtutes and regulation:

Our business with the U.S. government is subjecsgecific procurement regulations and a varietyotifer legal complian
obligations. These laws and rules include thosgedlto:

e procurement integrit

i export contro

11
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e government security regulatio

« employment practice

e protection of the environme!

e accuracy of records and the recording of costs

» foreign corrupt practice

In addition, before awarding us any contract omgrthe U.S. government could require that we redpsatisfactorily to a request
substantiate our commercial viability and industc@pabilities. Compliance with these obligationsreases our performance and compli
costs. Failure to comply with these regulations aagglirements could lead to suspension or debarf@ntause, from government contrac
or subcontracting for a period of time. The terrimaof a government contract or grant or relatfopss a result of our failure to satisfy an

these obligations would have a negative impactunoperations and harm our reputation and abiditprocure other government contract
grants in the future.

Unfavorable provisions in government contracts agdants, some of which may be customary, may harnr @uture business, financie
condition and potential operating results.

Government contracts and grants customarily corgaivisions that give the government substantghts and remedies, many

which are not typically found in commercial contgéncluding provisions that allow the government

e terminate existing contracts or grants, in wholénguart, for any reason or no reas

« unilaterally reduce or modify grants, contractsabcontracts, including through the use of equitaiice adjustment

» cancel multiyear contracts or grants and related orders if§dfodperformance for any subsequent year becoraeailable

» decline to exercise an option to renew a contragrant

» exercise an option to purchase only the minimumuarhepecified in a contract or gre

» decline to exercise an option to purchase the maxiramount specified in a contract or gr

» claim rights to products, including intellectuabperty, developed under a contract or g

» take actions that result in a longer developmentline than expecte

» direct the course of a development program in amm@anot chosen by the government contra

» suspend or debar the contractor from doing busiwébhsthe government or a specific government ags

e pursue criminal or civil remedies under the Faltr@s Act and False Statements Act;



« control or prohibit the export of produc

Generally, government contracts and grants comtaiwisions permitting unilateral termination or nifazhtion, in whole or in part,
the governmeng convenience. Under general principles of goveningentracting law, if the government terminatesoatract or grant fc
convenience, the terminated company may recoveritmincurred or committed costs, settlement espsrand profit on work completed p
to the termination.

If the government terminates a contract or grantffault, the defaulting company is entitled toaeer costs incurred and associ
profits on accepted items only and may be liableexcess costs incurred by the government in pioguindelivered items from anotl
source. Our government contracts and grants, imgutie BARDA Contract, could be terminated undese circumstances. Some governi
contracts and grants permit the government thet tighuse, for or on behalf of the U.S. governmemy technologies developed by
contractor under a government contract or grantelfvere to develop technology
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under a contract or grant with such a provision, might not be able to prohibit third parties, irdihg our competitors, from using tl
technology in providing products and services ®agbvernment.

Political or social factors, including related ligjation, may delay or impair ouiability to market Arestvyr and our biodefense prad
candidates and may require us to spend time and moto address these issues.

Products developed to treat diseases caused bycontbat the threat of bioterrorism or biowarfail e subject to changing politic
and social environments. The political and so@aponses to bioterrorism and biowarfare have begryihcharged and unpredictable. Polit
or social pressures or changes in the perceptitheofisk that military personnel or civilians cdule exposed to biological agents as wea
of bioterrorism or biowarfare may delay or causgstance to bringing our products to market ortlipnicing or purchases of our products,
of which would harm our business.

In addition, substantial delays or cancellationgpuofchases could result from protests or challetiges third parties. Furthermo
lawsuits brought against us by third parties suEladivists, even if not successful, require usgend time and money defending the rel
litigation. The need to address political and sdssues may divert our management’s time and @dtefrom other business concerns.

Additional lawsuits, publicity campaigns or othezgative publicity may adversely affect the degréenarket acceptance of, ¢
thereby limit the demand for, Arestvyr and our lafihse product candidates. In such event, outyatilmarket and sell such products ma
hindered and the commercial success of Arestvyrodimer products we develop will be harmed, thergalpcing our revenues.

Risks Related to Product Development

Our business depends significantly on our succassompleting development and commercialization ofig candidates that are still und:
development. If we are unable to commercialize thelug candidates, or experience significant delagsdoing so, our business will |
materially harmed.

We have invested a substantial majority of ourrgdfand financial resources in the developmentuofdsug candidates. Our ability
generate neaerm revenue is particularly dependent on the sscoéour smallpox antiviral drug candidate Arestvijhe commercial succe
of our drug candidates will depend on many factorduding:

» successful development, formulation and cGMResgp of drug manufacturing that meets FDA requirers

» successful development of animal moc

» successful completion of nattinical development, including studies in approegdmal model:

» our ability to pay the expense of filing, prosengtidefending and enforcing patent claims and dtiielectual property right

» successful completion of clinical tri

e receipt of marketing approvals from FDA and simftaneign regulatory authoritie

» establishing commercial manufacturing processeaiobwn or arrangements on reasonable terms withraxt manufacturer

« manufacturing stable commercial supplies of drutdatates, including availability of raw materii

» launching commercial sales of the product, whesth@ne or in collaboration with others; ¢

e acceptance of the product by potential governmastotners, physicians, patients, healthcare paywisothers in the medic
community.

We expect to rely on FDA regulations known as theithal rule”to obtain approval for certain of our biodefensegdcandidates. Tl

animal rule permits the use of animal efficacy madogether with human clinical safety trials tggort an application for marketing appro
These regulations are relatively new, and both ne the government have limited experience in thgliegtion of these rules to the di



candidates that we are developing. It is posshde results from these animal efficacy
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studies may not be predictive of the actual efficatour drug candidates in humans. If we are meotessful in completing the developn
and commercialization of our drug candidates, wiretiue to our efforts or due to concerns raisedurygovernmental regulators or custon
our business could be harmed.

We will not be able to commercialize our drug caddies if our preelinical development efforts are not successful,ralinical trials do not
demonstrate safety or our clinical trials or animatudies do not demonstrate efficacy.

Before obtaining regulatory approval for the sdl@ar drug candidates, we must conduct extensieelmical development, trials
demonstrate the safety of our drug candidates hnid¢al or animal trials to demonstrate the effigaaf our drug candidates. Peéinical anc
clinical testing is expensive, difficult to designd implement, can take many years to completdsandcertain as to outcome. Success in pr
clinical testing and early clinical trials does moisure that later clinical trials or animal eftigastudies will be successful, and interim resof
a clinical trial or animal efficacy study do notcessarily predict final results.

A failure of one or more of our clinical trials animal efficacy studies can occur at any stagesifrtg. We may experience numel
unforeseen events during, or as a result of cpnéeal testing and the clinical trial or animdfieacy study process that could delay or pre
our ability to receive regulatory approval or conmai@ize our drug candidates, including:

* regulators or institutional review boards may natharize us to commence a clinical trial or condactinical trial at a prospecti
trial site;

* we may decide, or regulators may require usptaluct additional prelinical testing or clinical trials, or we may alslmm project
that we expect to be promising, if our pi@ical tests, clinical trials or animal efficasyudies produce negative or inconclu
results;

« we might have to suspend or terminate our clinticals if the participants are being exposed tocaeatable health risk

e regulators or institutional review boards maguiee that we hold, suspend or terminate cliniealedlopment for various reasons,
including noncompliance with regulatory requirensgnt

» the cost of our clinical trials could escalate &edome cost prohibitiv

e our governmental regulators may impose requirgmen clinical trials, prefinical trials or animal efficacy studies that w@nno
meet or that may prohibit or limit our ability tefform or complete the necessary testing in omebtain regulatory approval;

e any regulatory approval we ultimately obtain nieylimited or subject to restrictions or pagproval commitments that render
product not commercially viable;

« we may not be successful in recruiting a sufficrumnber of qualifying subjects for our clinicalds; an:

» the effects of our drug candidates may not be #sireld effects or may include undesirable sideceffer the drug candidates n
have other unexpected characteristics.

We are in various stages of product development &mete can be no assurance of successful commeizdgion.

In general, our research and development prograenataan early stage of development. To obtain EpAroval for our biodefen
products, we will be required to obtain adequatmpof efficacy from at least one animal model @navide animal and human safety data.
other products will be subject to the usual FDAUtatpry requirements, which include a number ofggiseof testing in humans.

FDA has not approved any of our biopharmaceuticatlpct candidates. Any drug candidate we develdp require significar
additional research and development efforts, inome@xtensive prefinical and clinical testing and regulatory appabwrior to commercii
sale. We cannot be sure our approach to drug disgawill be effective or will result in the succéglscommercialization of any drug. V
cannot predict with certainty whether any drug Hasy from our research and development effortd bl commercially available within t
next several years, or if they will be availablelht
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Even if we receive initially positive preinical or clinical results, such results do natan that similar results will be obtained in |
stages of drug development, such as additionatlmizal testing or human clinical trials. All ofuo potential drug candidates are prone tc
risks of failure inherent in pharmaceutical proddetvelopment, including the possibility that nofi®@wuar drug candidates will or can:

* be safe, nomexic and effective

» otherwise meet applicable regulatory stand:

* receive the necessary regulatory appro

» develop into commercially viable dru

* be manufactured or produced economically and anggelscale

» be successfully markete

* be paid for by governmental procurers or be reirsbdiby governmental or private insurers;

» achieve customer acceptar

In addition, third parties may preclude us from ke#ing our drugs through enforcement of their pietary rights that we are r
aware of, or third parties may succeed in markegiqgivalent or superior drug products. Our failiwelevelop safe, commercially viable dr

would have a material adverse effect on our busijrfagancial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to Commercialization

Our ability to grow our business depends signifithnhon our ability to achieve sales of Arestvyr tustomers other than the U.
government

An element of our business strategy is to sell Asggo customers other than the U.S. governmenésé potential customers incli
foreign governments and state and local governmast#/ell as noigovernmental organizations focused on global hdékhthe World Healt
Organization, health care institutions like hodpif@omestic and foreign) and certain large busireganizations interested in protecting 1
employees against global threats.

The market for sales of Arestvyr to customers otfhen the U.S. government is undeveloped, and we mad be successful
generating meaningful sales of Arestvyr, if anythiese potential customers.

Governmental regulations may make it difficult fos to achieve significant sales of Arestvyr to costrs other than the U
government. For example, federal and foreign ramula usually require approval of the drug underegelly applicable food and drug laws
waivers of such approval before these customers pnagure the drug. Additionally, federal laws pla@ious restrictions on the expori
drugs that are not FDA-approved or that have p@tehtodefenseelated uses. These restrictions are subject togehas global conditio
change. These restrictions and other regulationsirag sales could limit our sales of Arestvyr taefgn governments and other fore
customers. In addition, U.S. government demandAfi@stvyr may limit supplies of Arestvyr availablerfsale to noid.S. governmel
customers.

If we fail to increase our sales of Arestvyr to toumsers other than the U.S. government, our busiagdsopportunities for grow
could be materially limited.

Because we must obtain regulatory clearance or athise operate under strict legal requirements inder to test and market our products
the U.S., we cannot predict whether or when we Wil permitted to commercialize our products othiean through the BARDA Contract.

Except with respect to sales to BARDA undeajé&ut BioShield, pharmaceutical products cannoegalty be marketed in the U.S. until ti
have has completed rigorous mlatical testing and clinical trials and an extemsiregulatory clearance process implemented by
Pharmaceutical products typically take many yearsdtisfy regulatory requirements and require tkeenditure of substantial resour
depending on the type, complexity and novelty efphoduct and its intended use.
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Before commencing clinical trials in humans, we taigmit and receive clearance from FDA throughracgss begun by an IM
application. Institutional review boards and FDAemsee clinical trials. Such trials:

e must be conducted in conformance with FDA regulet

e must meet requirements for institutional reviewrdoaversight

e must meet requirements for informed cons

* must meet requirements for good clinical and maatufing practice:
e are subject to continuing FDA oversic

* may require large numbers of test subjects

* may be suspended by us or FDA at any time if ibdbeved that the subjects participating in thegsdst are being exposed
unacceptable health risks or if FDA finds deficiesan our IND application or the conduct of thésals.

Before receiving FDA clearance to market a prodiu¢he absence of a medical or public health emmerggeve must demonstrate t
the product is safe and effective on the patiepupation that will be treated. Data we obtain frprelinical and clinical activities and frc
animal models are susceptible to varying interpicta that could delay, limit or prevent regulatatgarances. Additionally, we have limi
experience in conducting and managing thegtiréeal and clinical trials and animal efficacyudtes and manufacturing processes necess
obtain regulatory clearance.

If full regulatory clearance of a product is grahtéhis clearance will be limited only to those ditions for which the product
demonstrated through clinical trials to be safe effidacious. We cannot ensure that any compoureldped by us, alone or with others,
prove to be safe and efficacious in pteical or clinical trials or animal efficacy stied and will meet all of the applicable regula
requirements needed to receive full marketing elece.

The biopharmaceutical market in which we competedanill compete is highly competitive.

The biopharmaceutical industry is characterizedapyd and significant technological change. Ourcsess will depend on our ability
develop and apply our technologies in the desigh development of our product candidates and tdblishtaand maintain a market for «
product candidates. In addition, there are manypaonies, both public and private, including majoayhaceutical and chemical compar
specialized biotechnology firms, universities arideo research institutions engaged in developireymphceutical and biotechnology prodt
Many of these companies have substantially grefatancial, technical, research and developmentuess, and human resources thar
Competitors may develop products or other technefothat are more effective than any that are bdegloped by us or may obtain F
approval for products more rapidly than us. If waaneence commercial sales of products, we still ncostpete in the manufacturing
marketing of such products, areas in which we havexperience. Many of these companies also havelfaeturing facilities and establist
marketing capabilities that would enable such camgsato market competing products through existimgnnels of distribution.

Our potential products may not be acceptable in tharket or eligible for thirdparty reimbursement resulting in a negative impamt our
future financial results.

Any product we develop may not achieve market aece®. The degree of market acceptance of anyrgbraducts will depend or
number of factors, including:

the establishment and demonstration in the medaaimunity of the efficacy and safety of such prdsl|

» the potential advantage of such products overiagistpproaches to combating the problem intenddxt taddresse
» the cost of our products relative to their percdilsenefits; an

* payment or reimbursement policies of governnaert thirdparty payor:

Physicians, patients or the medical community inegal may not accept or utilize any product we meyelop. Our ability to gener:
revenues and income with respect to drugs, if dayeloped through the use of our technology witleted,
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in part, upon the extent to which payment or reimbment for the cost of such drugs will be avadafsbm thirdparty payors, such
governmental suppliers like BARDA, CDC or DoD, gowmental health administration authorities, privétealthcare insurers, hes
maintenance organizations, pharmacy benefits mamaigiecompanies and other organizations. Thady payors are increasingly disputing
prices charged for pharmaceutical products. Ifdtpirty payment or reimbursement was not availablsufficient to allow profitable pric
levels to be maintained for drugs we develop, itld@dversely affect our business.

Product liability lawsuits could cause us to incsubstantial liabilities and require us to limit comercialization of any products that we m
develop.

We face an inherent business risk related to tleeafaArestvyr and any other products that we sssftdly develop and the testing
our product candidates in clinical trials.

Arestvyr is currently identified as a covered caunteasure under a PREP Act declaration issued tob@c2008, which provides
with substantial immunity with respect to the maratéire, administration or use of Arestvyr. Under BARDA Contract, the U.S. governmi
should indemnify us against claims by third parties death, personal injury and other damagesaélad Arestvyr, including reasona
litigation and settlement costs, to the extent thatclaim or loss results from specified risks cmtered by insurance or caused by our gr
negligent or criminal behavior. The collection pres can be lengthy and complicated, and there guamntee that we will be able to recc
these amounts from the U.S. government.

If we cannot successfully defend ourselves agdirtate claims that our product or product candidataused injuries and we are
entitled to or able to obtain indemnity by the Uddvernment with respect to such claims, or if th&. government does not honor
indemnification obligations, we may incur substahliabilities. Regardless of merit or eventualamrhe, product liability claims may result in:

* decreased demand for any product candidate or prololat we may develc

* injury to our reputatiol

» withdrawal of a product from the mark

« withdrawal of clinical trial participant

e costs to defend the related litigati

e substantial monetary awards to trial participamtpatients

* loss of revenue; al

« the inability to commercialize any products thatway develof

We currently have product liability insurance witbverage up to a $10 million annual aggregate lend up to $10 million p
occurrence. The amount of insurance that we cuyrdrdld may not be adequate to cover all liabifitihat may occur. Product liabil
insurance is difficult to obtain and increasingkpensive. We may not be able to maintain insuracerage at a reasonable cost and we

not be able to maintain or obtain insurance cowethgt will be adequate to satisfy any liabilitatimay arise.

Additionally, a successful product liability claior series of claims brought against us could causestock price to fall and cot
decrease our financial resources and materiallyaandrsely affect our business.

We may be required to perform additional clinicaldls or change the labeling of our products if war others identify side effects after o
products are on the market, which could harm sal#fshe affected products

If we or others identify side effects after anyoof products are on the market, or if manufactupraplems occur:

* regulatory approval may be withdra

« reformulation of our products, additional clini¢gals or other testing or changes in labeling wf products may be require
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e changes to or rapprovals of our manufacturing facilities may bguieed

sales of the affected products may drop signifigs

e our reputation in the marketplace may suffer;

e lawsuits, including class action suits, may be gtdwagainst u

Any of the above occurrences could harm or prewates of the affected products or could increasecthsts and expenses
commercializing and marketing these products.

Healthcare reform and controls on healthcare spendimay limit the price we charge for our productséthe amounts that we can se

There have been a number of legislative and remylgiroposals in the United States to change tladttheare system in ways t
could affect our ability to sell our products ptafily. One enacted proposal, the Patient ProteetimhAffordable Care Act, as amended by
Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of @Qdollectively, the “Healthcare Reform Act§ubstantially changes the way healthca
financed by both governmental and private insuaerd will have a substantial effect on the pharmtacaluindustry. The Healthcare Refc
Act contains a number of provisions, including #hagverning enrollment in federal healthcare progrdike Medicare, reimbursem:
changes and rules protecting against fraud andealbliat will change existing healthcare progrant wiil result in the development of ni
programs, including Medicare payment for perforneaimitiatives and improvements to the physicianliguaeporting system and feedb:
program. We anticipate that, if we obtain marketaqgproval for our products, some of our revenue rayderived from governmen
healthcare programs, including Medicare. Furtheenbeginning in 2011, the Healthcare Reform Actasgdl a nordeductible excise tax
pharmaceutical manufacturers or importers who ‘belinded prescription drugsyvhich includes innovator drugs and biologics (edahg
orphan drugs or generics) to U.S. government progrdhe Healthcare Reform Act and other healthcefiem measures that may be ado
in the future could have an adverse effect on wdustry generally and potential future sales anfditability of our products specifically.

In addition to the Healthcare Reform Act, we expbet there will continue to be proposals by legisis at both the federal and s
levels, regulators, and thigghrty payors to keep healthcare costs down whipaeding individual healthcare benefits. Certainhefse chang
could impose limitations on the prices we will i#eato charge for any product that is approvecheramounts of reimbursement available
these products from governmental agencies or dtiiet-party payors or may increase the taxes imposedf@isdiences companies suct
ours. While it is too early to predict what efféhe Healthcare Reform Act or any future legislatanregulation will have on us, such le
could have an adverse effect on our business,diabcondition and results of operations.

Laws and regulations governing international operahs may preclude us from developing, manufacturiregnd selling certain produs
candidates outside of the United States and requiseto develop and implement costly compliance paogs.

As we expand our operations outside of the UnitedeS, we must comply with numerous laws and reiguis relating to our busine
operations in each jurisdiction in which we planojgerate. The creation and implementation of irggomal business practices complia
programs is costly and such programs are diffimuéinforce, particularly where reliance on thirdtigs is required.

The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or FCPA, prasibiny U.S. individual or business from payinggedffg, or authorizing payment
offering of anything of value, directly or indirégtto any foreign official, political party or cdidate for the purpose of influencing any ac
decision of the foreign entity in order to assist thdividual or business in obtaining or retainmginess. The FCPA also obligates compi
whose securities are listed in the United Statesotoply with certain accounting provisions requirithe company to maintain books
records that accurately and fairly reflect all sactions of the corporation, including internatiosiabsidiaries, and to devise and maintai
adequate system of internal accounting controlsnii@rnational operations. The abtibery provisions of the FCPA are enforced prityably
the U.S. Department of Justice. The SEC is involvéd enforcement of the books and records prowssiof the FCPA.

Compliance with the FCPA is expensive and difficpérticularly in countries in which corruptiondsecognized problem. In additi
the FCPA presents particular challenges in therpaeeutical industry, because, in many countriespit@ls are operated by the governn
and doctors and other hospital employees are cemsidoreign officials. Certain payments to hodpita connection with clinical studies ¢
other work have been deemed to be improper paynegsvernment officials
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and have led to FCPA enforcement actions. In amditbiodefense companies like SIGA often sell thmioducts directly to foreic
governments.

Various laws, regulations and executive orders sdstrict the use and dissemination outside ofuthied States, or the sharing v
certain nond.S. nationals, of information classified for naté security purposes, as well as certain prodardistechnical data relating to th
products. Our expanding presence outside of theedi8tates will require us to dedicate additioraburces to compliance with these laws,
these laws may preclude us from developing, maturfiag, or selling certain products and productdidates outside of the United Sta
which could limit our growth potential and increase development costs.

The failure to comply with laws governing interrettal business practices may result in substangiahipies, including suspensior
debarment from government contracting. Violatiorthef FCPA can result in significant civil and criral penalties. Indictment alone under
FCPA can lead to suspension of the right to dorass with the U.S. government until the pendingndaare resolved. Conviction o
violation of the FCPA can result in longrm disqualification as a government contractdre Termination of a government contrac
relationship as a result of our failure to satisfyy of our obligations under laws governing intéioral business practices would hay
negative impact on our operations and harm ourtatipm and ability to procure government contradise SEC also may suspend or
issuers from trading securities on United Statehamrges for violations of the FCPA'’s accountingvsions.

If we are unable to expand our internal sales andarketing capabilities or enter into agreements withird parties, we may be unable
generate revenue from product sales to customehepothan the U.S. governmen

To achieve commercial success for any approvedustodie may need to enhance our own sales and tiraylaapabilities, enter in
collaborations with third parties able to perfotmge services or outsource these functions to plairties.

We currently market and sell Arestvyr through a ntargeted sales and marketing group. We plaootttinue to do so and exp
that we will use a similar approach for sales ® thS. government of any other biodefense prodamtliicates that we successfully develo
we are unable to do this, we may be unable to ekpansales of Arestvyr, which could have an adveféect on our growth.

Risks Related to Manufacturing and Manufacturing Facilities

Problems related to lar¢-scale commercial manufacturing could cause us @aly product launches or experience shortages ajgarcts.

Manufacturing drug products, especially in largamfities, is complex. Our drug candidates requéneegal manufacturing steps, i
may involve complex techniques to assure quality sufficient quantity, especially as the manufaotyscale increases. Our products mu:
made consistently and in compliance with a cleddfined manufacturing process. Accordingly, itgsential to be able to validate and coi
the manufacturing process to assure that it isothmible. Slight deviations anywhere in the manuwfidcg process, including obtaini
materials, filling, labeling, packaging, storaghipping, quality control and testing, some of whalh pharmaceutical companies, incluc
SIGA, experience from time to time, may resultan failures, delay in the release of lots, prodedtalls or spoilage. Success rates can
dramatically at different stages of the manufacmiprocess, which can lower yields and increaséscigée may experience deviations in
manufacturing process that may take significanetand resources to resolve and, if unresolved, affagt manufacturing output and/or ca
us to fail to satisfy customer orders or contracteanmitments, lead to delays in our clinical siak result in litigation or regulatory action.

If third parties do not manufacture our drug candates or products in sufficient quantities and at aceptable cost or in compliance w
regulatory requirements and specifications, the émpment and commercialization of our drug candigéat could be delayed, preventec
impaired.

We currently rely on third parties to manufacturagdcandidates that we require for piatical and clinical development, includi
Arestvyr. Any significant delay in obtaining adetgiasupplies of our drug candidates could adversdigct our ability to develop
commercialize these drug candidates. We expectvibawill rely on third parties for a portion of tieanufacturing process for commer
supplies of drug candidates that we successfulselde. If our contract manufacturers are unabledaleup production to generate eno
materials for commercial launch, the success addhmroducts may be jeopardized. Our current andipated future dependence upon ot
for the manufacture of our drug candidates may & affect our ability to develop drug candidatesl commercialize any product t
receives regulatory approval on a timely and coftipetbasis.
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We currently rely on third parties to demonstragulatory compliance and for quality assurance wegpect to the drug candide
manufactured for us. We intend to continue to miythese third parties for these purposes withe@sje production of commercial supplie:
drugs that we successfully develop. Manufactureessabject to ongoing, periodic, unannounced inspedy FDA and corresponding st
and foreign agencies or their designees to enstice ompliance with applicable regulations.

We cannot be certain that our present or futureufaaturers will be able to comply with these regjolas and other FDA regulatc
requirements or similar regulatory requirementssiolet the U.S. While our contracts and grants aall dompliance with all applicak
regulatory requirements, we do not control comgléaby these manufacturers with these regulatiodsstandards. If we or these third pai
fail to comply with applicable regulations, sanasccould be imposed on us, which could signifigaatid adversely affect supplies of our ¢
candidates.

Our activities may involve hazardous materials, usfavhich may subject us to environmental regulagdiabilities.

Our biopharmaceutical research and developmenttsoe®involves the use of hazardous and radioactiaterials and generation
biological waste. We are subject to federal, staig local laws and regulations governing the usufacture, storage, handling and disg
of these materials and certain waste products.ofith we believe that our safety procedures for lamand disposing of these mater
comply with legally prescribed standards, the dékccidental contamination or injury from thesetenials cannot be completely eliminatec
the event of an accident, we could be held liabtedmages, and this liability could exceed ououeses. We use, for example, small amc
of radioactive isotopes commonly used in pharmacautesearch, which are stored, used and dispo$ed accordance with Nucle
Regulatory Commission regulations. Our generalilligitpolicy provides coverage up to annual aggtedamits of $2 million and coverage
$2 million per occurrence.

We believe that we are in compliance in all mategapects with applicable environmental laws aggltations and currently do |
expect to make material additional capital expemdg for environmental control facilities in theangerm. However, we may have to in
significant costs to comply with current or futevironmental laws and regulations.

Risks Related to Sales of Biodefense Products toeth).S. Government

Our business could be adversely affected by a niegatudit by the U.S. government.

U.S. government agencies such as the Defense CoWtualit Agency (the “DCAA”),routinely audit and investigate governn
contractors. These agencies review a contraciperformance under its contracts and grants, stostture, and compliance with applice
laws, regulations and standards.

The DCAA also reviews the adequacy of, and a cotdra compliance with, its internal control systems @aoticies, including th
contractors purchasing, property, estimating, compensatichraanagement information systems. Any cost fourtsetanproperly allocated
a specific contract will not be reimbursed, whilecls costs already reimbursed must be refundedn l&wait uncovers improper or illeg
activities, we may be subject to civil and crimipahalties and administrative sanctions, including:

e termination of contract

» forfeiture of profits

* suspension of paymer

* fines; ani

» suspension or prohibition from doing business h#h U.S. governmel
Laws and regulations affecting government contraetsd grants might make it more costly and difficdtir us to conduct our busines

We must comply with numerous laws and regulatioglating to the formation, administration and periance of governme
contracts and grants, which can make it more diffifor us to retain our rights under these conga€hese laws and regulations affect hov
do business with federal, state and local govertah@gencies. Among the most significant governneemtracting regulations that affect
business are:
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» the Federal Acquisition Regulation and othemagespecific regulations supplemental to the Fddsequisition Regulation,
which comprehensively regulate the procurement&tion, administration and performance of governngentracts;

» the business ethics and public integrity oblmya, which govern conflicts of interest and theng of former government
employees, restrict the granting of gratuities amdling of lobbying activities and incorporate athequirements such as the Anti-
Kickback Act and Foreign Corrupt Practices Act;

e export and import control laws and regulations;

» laws, regulations and executive orders restricthe use and dissemination of information clésgifor national security purposes

and the exportation of certain products and tectimiata.

Risks Related to Regulatory Approvals

If we are not able to obtain required regulatory ppovals, we will not be able to commercialize ouugd candidates in the United Stat
other than through sales to BARDA, and our ability generate revenue will be materially impaired.

Our drug candidates and the activities associaitit their development and commercialization, inahgdtheir testing, manufactu
safety, efficacy, recordkeeping, labeling, storaggroval, advertising, promotion, sale and distidn, are subject to comprehensive regul:
by FDA and other regulatory agencies in the Uni&dtes and by comparable authorities in other cmsntFailure to obtain regulatc
approval for a drug candidate will prevent us freommercializing the drug candidate in the Uniteat& other than through sales to BAF
under Project BioShield. We have limited experieimcpreparing, filing and prosecuting the applioat necessary to gain regulatory apprc
and expect to rely on thirparty contract research organizations and congaltarassist us in this process. Securing FDA an@quires th
submission to FDA of extensive peéinical and clinical data and, potentially, aninefficacy studies, information about product mawtifanc
processes and inspection of facilities and suppgrinformation in order to establish the drug cdatks safety and efficacy. Our futt
products may not be effective, may be only modéraffective, or may prove to have significant seféects, toxicities, or other characteris
that may preclude our obtaining regulatory appravgrevent or limit commercial use.

Failure to obtain regulatory approval in internatioal jurisdictions could prevent us from marketinguo products abroad.

We intend to have our products marketed outsideUthigeed States. To market our products in the EeaopUnion and many ott
foreign jurisdictions, we may need to obtain sefmaragulatory approvals and comply with numerous$ aarying regulatory requirements. -
approval procedure varies among countries andrsanivie additional testing. The time required toadbtapproval may differ from that requi
to obtain FDA approval.

The foreign regulatory approval process may inclatleof the risks associated with obtaining FDA ap@l. We may not obta
foreign regulatory approvals on a timely basistiéll. Approval by FDA does not ensure approvatdmyulatory authorities in other countrie:
jurisdictions, and approval by one foreign regutgtauthority does not ensure approval by regulatarthorities in other foreign countries
jurisdictions or by FDA. We and our potential fugwrollaborators may not be able to file for regaaiapprovals and may not receive neces
approvals to commercialize our products in any reark

The Fast Track designation for Arestvyr may not aatly lead to a faster development or regulatoryiew or approval process.

We have obtained a “Fast Trac#i&signation from FDA for Arestvyr. However, we magt experience a faster development pro
review or approval compared to conventional FDAcpdures. FDA may withdraw our Fast Track desigmaifidt believes that the designat
is no longer supported by data from our clinicatelepment program. Our Fast Track designation dioeguarantee that we will qualify for
be able to take advantage of F3AExpedited review procedures or that any apptingtiat we may submit to FDA for regulatory appiovil
be accepted for filing or ultimately approved.
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Risks Related to Our Dependence on Third Parties

If third parties on whom we rely for clinical triad or certain animal trials do not perform as conttually required or as we expect, we n
not be able to obtain regulatory approval for orromnercialize our drug candidates and our businessynsaffer.

We do not have the ability independently to condbetclinical trials, and certain animal trialsquéred to obtain regulatory appro
for our products. We depend on independent invatig, contract research organizations and othet-plarty service providers to cond
trials of our drug candidates and expect to cometittudo so. We rely heavily on these third pafiiessuccessful execution of our trials, bu
not exercise day-tday control over their activities. We are respolesibr ensuring that each of our trials is condddteaccordance with tl
general investigational plan and protocols for tited. Moreover, FDA requires us to comply with edards, commonly referred to as G
Clinical Practices, for conducting and recording agporting the results of clinical trials to asstiat data and reported results are credibl
accurate and that the rights, integrity and comfiiddity of trial participants are protected. Siarlly, animal trials may have to comply w
Good Laboratory Practices.

We also currently rely on thirdarty manufacturers and service providers to preduestvyr. Under the BARDA Contract, we
responsible for the performance of these tipiadty contracts, and our contracts with these tpadies give us certain supervisory and qu
control rights, but we do not exercise complete-tdaglay control over their activities.

Our reliance on third parties that we do nmttool does not relieve us of the responsibilitesl requirements imposed by the BAR
Contract. Third parties may not complete activitiesschedule, or may not conduct our trials in edance with regulatory requirements or
stated protocols. The failure of these third partie carry out their obligations could delay orvenat the development, approval .
commercialization of our drug candidates.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

Our ability to compete may decrease if we do noé@ubtely protect our intellectual property rights.

Our commercial success will depend in part on daility to obtain and maintain patent protection faur proprietary technologie
drug targets and potential products and to presauvérade secrets and trademark rights. Becaueeafubstantial length of time and exp
associated with bringing potential products througke development and regulatory clearance processagach the marketplace,
pharmaceutical industry places considerable impogaon obtaining patent and trade secret proteciiba patent positions of pharmaceut
and biotechnology companies can be highly unceraith involve complex legal and factual questions. dénsistent policy regarding
breadth of claims allowed in biotechnology patdrds emerged to date. Accordingly, we cannot predétype and breadth of claims alloy
in these patents.

As of December 31, 2012, we exclusively own 10 Wo&tents, 2 U.S. provisional patent applications, \2S. utility pater
applications, 2 international PCT patent applicadi@and 118 foreign patent applications. We includetimmary of our patent position a
December 31, 2012 in Part I, Item 1 of this AnrRaeport on Form 10-K.

We also rely on trade secrets, knbaw, continuing technological innovation and lidagsopportunities. In an effort to maintain
confidentiality and ownership of trade secrets prabrietary information, we require our employeesnsultants and some collaborator
execute confidentiality and invention assignmemeaments upon commencement of a relationship vgitiThese agreements may not pro
meaningful protection for our trade secrets, camfichl information or inventions in the event ofauthorized use or disclosure of s
information, and adequate remedies may not exigtarevent of such unauthorized use or disclosure.

If our technologies are alleged or found to infrirggthe patents or proprietary rights of others, weaynbe sued, we may have to pay dam
or be barred from pursuing a technology, or we mlagve to license those rights to or from others onfavorable terms. Even if we preve
such litigation may be costl

Our commercial success will depend significantlyoom ability to operate without infringing the pate or proprietary rights of thi
parties. Our technologies, or the technologiehiéitparties on which we may depend, may infringe patents or proprietary rights of oth
If there is an adverse outcome in any dispute aoirog rights to these technologies, then we coeldiibject to significant liability, required
license disputed rights from or to other partied/anrequired to cease using a technology necessagrry out our research, development
commercialization activities.

The costs to establish or defend against claimsfohgement or interference with patents or othmprietary rights can be expens
and timeeonsuming, even if the outcome is favorable. Arcomte of any patent or proprietary rights admintateaproceeding or litigation th
is unfavorable to us may have a material adverfeetain us. We could incur substantial costs if we
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are required to defend ourselves in suits brougthiod parties or if we initiate such suits. Weymeot have sufficient funds or resources ir
event of litigation. Additionally, we may not pravim any such action.

Any dispute resulting from claims based on patents proprietary rights could result in a significa@duction in the coverage of
patents or proprietary rights owned, optioned byjicansed to us and limit our ability to obtain mesyful protection for our rights. If patel
are issued to third parties that contain competitbr conflicting claims, we may be legally prohdat from researching, developing
commercializing potential products or be requireabtain licenses to these patents or to develgbt@in alternative technology. We may
legally prohibited from using technology owned hiierys, may not be able to obtain any license tg#ients or technologies of third partie:
acceptable terms, if at all, or may not be abletitain or develop alternative technologies.

In December 2006, PharmAthene, Inc. (“PharmAthefigf)l an action against us in the Delaware Coti€loancery (the “Courtbr
“Court of Chancery”) captione®harmAthene, Inc. v. SGA Technologies, Inc. , C.A. No. 2627N. In its amended complaint, PharmAth
asked the Court to order us to enter into a liceiggeement with PharmAthene with respect to28%; also known as Arestvyr, to declare
we are obliged to execute such a license agreemedtio award damages resulting from our suppossath of that obligation. PharmAthe
also alleges that we breached an obligation to tietgasuch a license agreement in good faith, andtg damages for promissory estoppel
unjust enrichment based on supposed informatiopitataand assistance that PharmAthene allegediyigeed to us during the negotiat
process. The Court tried the case in January 2011.

In September 2011, the Court of Chancery issueddts-trial opinion. The Court denied PharmAthene2quests for speci
performance and expectation damages measured dgnprealue of estimated future profits. Nevertheléise Court held that we breached
duty to negotiate in good faith and were liable @mithe doctrine of promissory estoppel. The Coonsequently awarded to PharmAthene
the Court described as an equitable payment stoeagquitable lien consisting of fifty percent okthet profits that we achieve from sale
ST-246 after we secure $40 million in net profits, fen years following the first commercial saleablidition, the Court awarded PharmAth
one-third of its reasonable attorneys’ fees ancexpitness expenses.

In May 2012, the Court entered its final order ardhment in this matter, implementing its p&s# opinion. Among other things, t
final order and judgment provided that (a) net psodvill be calculated in accordance with generalticepted accounting principles app
consistently with how they are applied in the prafian of our financial statements, (b) the netfigocalculation will take into accou
expenses relating to ST-246 commencing with ouuisdtpn of ST246 in August 2004, and (c) PharmAthene may rec2e4 million o
attorneys'fees and expenses. As of December 31, 2012, SIGAdtarded a $2.5 million loss contingency withpees to the fee, expense i
interest portion of the judgment.

In June 2012, we appealed to the Supreme Couhieobtate of Delaware the final order and judgmadtaertain earlier rulings of t
Court of Chancery. Shortly thereafter, PharmAthiled its crossappeal. We obtained a stay of enforcement of theafel expense portion
the judgment by filing a surety bond for the amoahthe judgment plus pogtdgment interest. We posted $1.3 million as celialt for the
surety bond which is recorded in other assets &eoémber 31, 2012.

On July 27, 2012, we filed our opening brief on egdp identifying the following points of error: ()e Court of Chancery erred
holding that we breached our obligation to negetiatgood faith following the termination of the@mAthene merger in 2006; (b) the C«
of Chanc ery erred in holding that PharmAthenassistance enriched the Company and that Phaemétis consequently entitled to re
under the doctrine of promissory estoppel; (c)@mairt of Chancery erred in awarding relief in tloen of an equitable payment stream;
(d) the Court of Chancery erred in awarding PhatmeAe a portion of its attorneys’ fees, expenseseapdrt witness costs.

On August 26, 2012, PharmAthene filed its openingefb answering with respect to our appeal and iagyun support ¢
PharmAthene’s crosappeal. With respect to the latter, PharmAthenendd that the Court of Chancery erred in not figdihat there was
binding license agreement and should have awaritleer especific performance or expectation dama@es September 27, 2012, we file
final brief in response. On October 8, 2012, PhattmeAe filed its final brief in response. The ongjuanent on the appeal and cregmpeal wa
heard before the Supreme Court of the State ofvielaen banc, on January 10, 2013 and the Colktth@oarguments under advisement.

We expect that the Court of Chanceryinal order and judgment will have a materialvarse impact on the Company and its fu

results of operations unless the appeal and @ppseal result in a materially positive change #pbrtion of the ruling awarding the equite
payment stream or equitable lien. We cannot assiwreess on the appeal and cross-appeal.
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In addition, like many biopharmaceutical companigs,may from time to time hire scientific personfaimerly employed by oth
companies involved in one or more areas simildhéoactivities conducted by us. It is possible thiatand/or these individuals may be sut
to allegations of trade secret misappropriationtber similar claims as a result of their prioiilatfions.

Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Need foAdditional Financing

We have incurred operating losses since our inceptand expect to incur net losses for the foresdedhbture.

We incurred net operating losses of approximat@®.% million and $31.4 million for the years end@ecember 31, 2012 and 20
respectively. As of December 31, 2012, 2011 and26(rr accumulated deficit was approximately $128idion, $108.9 million and $122
million, respectively. We expect to continue to éaignificant operating expenses and will needettegate significant revenues to achieve
maintain profitability.

Our ability to fund operations is substantially degent on cash flows from delivery of Arestvyrwié do not achieve positive ci
flows, we cannot guarantee that we can sustaimlosrece our current level of operations. We exgeat ¢ash flows will fluctuate significan
and could be delayed from one quarter to anothegdan several factors. If cash flows grow slowantwe anticipate, or if operating expel
or expenses resulting from the ptsal ruling in the litigation commenced by Pharrh@he exceed our expectations or cannot be ad
accordingly, then our business, results of opematifinancial condition and cash flows will be mi&ly and adversely affected. Because
strategy may include the acquisition of other besges, acquisition and integration expenses andasiy required to fund these acquisit
will reduce our available cash.

We may need additional funding in the future, whialhay not be available to us, and which may forcetasdelay, reduce or eliminate o
product development programs or commercializatidfods.

Until we receive payments related to delivery aidarct under the BARDA Contract, our operations rbayconstrained by our abil
to obtain additional funding. While we have raisetdbstantial funds through credit facilities and igsiance of new equity or the exercis
options or warrants in the past, there is no guaeathat we will continue to be successful in ragjssuch funds. If we are unable to r.
additional funds, we could be forced to discontintease or limit certain operations. We believe existing capital resources, together \
funds expected to be generated from the BARDA @atrwill be sufficient to support our operaticios at least the next twelve mont
however, our cash flows may fall short of our potiigns or be delayed, or our expenses may incredseh could result in our capital be
consumed significantly faster than anticipated. @umual operating needs vary from year to yearm#ipg upon the amount of cash gener
through the BARDA Contract, contracts, grants, n&es, the amount of projects we undertake, andtiheunt of resources we expent
connection with acquisitions, all of which may mé&#y differ from year to year and may adverseffeet our business.

We may require additional financing in the futurelave may not be able to raise additional fundsvdfare able to obtain additio
financing through the sale of equity or convertidébt securities, such sales may contain term$y, asdiquidation and other preferences
are not favorable to us or our stockholders. Ifraise additional funds through collaboration amerising arrangements with third partie
may be necessary to relinquish valuable rightsutotechnologies or product candidates or granhes on terms that may not be favorab
us. Debt financing arrangements, if available, mexyuire us to pledge certain assets or enter iot@rmants that would restrict our busir
activities or our ability to incur further indebteess and may be at interest rates and contain ¢¢heis that are not favorable to
shareholders.

Outstanding indebtedness may make it more difficidtobtain additional financing or reduce our flekility to act in our best interests.

In December 2012, the Company entered into a Igaeeaent with a lender to provide the Companyma tean of $5.0 million with
fixed interest rate of 9.85% per annum and a reérghine of credit of $7.0 million with a variablaterest rate. As of December 31, 2012
full term loan amount of $5 million was outstandivige are obligated to fully repay our $5 milliomrteloan by December 1, 2015. We alsc
obligated to make monthly interest payments on dhtstanding principal amount commencing Februardl3 in addition to month
principal payments commencing on July 1, 2013. W&y m3sue additional debt or incur other types afelstedness in the future, subjec
compliance with the terms of our current loan agreet. The level of our indebtedness could affecbyismaking it more difficult to obta
additional financing for working capital, capitatpenditures, debt service requirements or othepgaes; shortening the duration of avail
revolving credit because lenders may seek to avoitflicting maturity dates; constraining our alilito react quickly in an unfavoral
economic climate or to changes in our businesi@pharmaceutical industry; or potentially requrthe dedication of substantial amount
service the repayment of outstanding debt, inclygieriodic interest payments, thereby reducingatheunt of cash available for other
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purposes. In addition, our loan agreement contaurssomary covenants which could impact our abildyobtain additional financing a
restrict our flexibility in carrying out our busigg strategy.

The term loan and revolving facility under our loagreement are secured by a first priority lienadinof our existing and aft
acquired property, other than certain excludedtasaemong which are: (i) the final drug product enthe brand names Arestvyr or 346, (ii)
the final drug product whose active ingredient tresUSAN designation tecovirimat, (iii) any finaludy product chemically derived from
active ingredient that has the USAN designationveanat, (iv) any other orthopox related small emile therapeutic product derived from
same family of tricyclononenes from which Arestwas derived, and (v) intellectual property relatedhe foregoing items (i) through (iv).
we default on our obligations under our loan agremimour lender could foreclose on our assets (dttam the excluded assets).

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Our stock price is, and we expect it to remain,atde, which could limit investors’ ability to sel tock at a profit.

The volatile price of our stock makes it difficéittr investors to predict the value of their investits, to sell shares at a profit at
given time, or to plan purchases and sales in ambvah variety of factors may affect the market eraf our common stock. These include,
are not limited to:

» publicity regarding actual or potential clinical animal test results relating to products underetigpment by our competitors
us;

* initiating, completing or analyzing, or a delay failure in initiating, completing or analyzingre<linical or clinical trials @
animal trials or the design or results of thesa4ri

e achievement or rejection of regulatory approval®bycompetitors or u
« announcements of technological innovations or nemroercial products by our competitors ot

» developments concerning proprietary rights, inalgdpatents and rights to Arestvyr or a portion lué het profits associat
therewith as asserted by PharmAthene;

» developments concerning our collaborati

* regulatory developments in the United States argida countries

» economic or other crises and other external faj

» period-toperiod fluctuations in our revenues and other tesafloperations; a1
» changes in financial estimates by securities ate

Additionally, because the volume of trading in atwck fluctuates significantly at times, any infation about us in the media n
result in significant volatility in our stock price

We will not be able to control many of these fast@nd we believe that period{period comparisons of our financial results wilk
necessarily be indicative of our future performance

In addition, the stock market in general, and tteekmat for biotechnology companies in particulars kaperienced extreme price

volume fluctuations that may have been unrelategisproportionate to the operating performancendividual companies. These broad ma
and industry factors may seriously harm the mapkiee of our common stock, regardless of our opeggterformance.
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A future issuance of preferred stock may adversaffect the rights of the holders of our common skos

Our certificate of incorporation allows our Boarfd@irectors to issue up to 10,000,000 shares diepred stock and to fix the voti
powers, designations, preferences, rights and fgpaions, limitations or restrictions of these sfsmwithout any further vote or action by
stockholders. The rights of the holders of commimelswill be subject to, and could be adverselgei#d by, the rights of the holders of
preferred stock that we may issue in the futuree Hsuance of preferred stock, while providing ddse flexibility in connection with ol
future activities, could also have the effect ofking it more difficult for a third party to acquire majority of our outstanding voting stc
thereby delaying, deferring or preventing a changsntrol.

Concentration of ownership of our capital stock cloudelay or prevent a change of control.

Our directors, executive officers and principalcktwlders beneficially own a significant percentaf@ur common stock. They a
have, through the exercise or conversion of cedanurities, the right to acquire additional comnstock. As a result, these stockholder
acting together, have the ability to influence diecome of corporate actions requiring sharehadgroval. Additionally, this concentration
ownership may have the effect of delaying or prémgna change in control of SIGA. As of the mostemet available information, directc
officers and principal stockholders beneficiallyred approximately 41% of our outstanding stock.

Risks Related to Our Business

The loss of key personnel or our ability to recrwit retain qualified personnel could adversely afteour results of operations.

We rely upon the ability, expertise, judgment, cision, integrity and good faith of our senior mgeaent team. Our succes:
dependent upon our personnel and our ability touieand train high quality employees. We must cur to recruit, retain and motivi
management and other employees sufficient to nimiotar current business and support our projectedvty. The loss of services of any
our key management could have a material advefseten our business.

Our future success depends on our ability to retain chief executive officer and other key execegivand to attract, retain ¢
motivate qualified personnel. The loss of the smwiof any key executive might impede the achiewmtrogour research, development
commercialization objectives. Replacing key empésyenay be difficult and timeensuming because of the limited number of indigldur
our industry with the skills and experiences reggito develop, gain regulatory approval of and cemumlize our product candida
successfully. We generally do not maintain key perlfe insurance to cover the loss of any of omplyees. Recruiting and retain
qualified scientific personnel, clinical personiaeld sales and marketing personnel will also bécalito our success. We may not be ab
attract and retain these personnel on acceptabiestef at all, given the competition among numergaharmaceutical and biotechnol
companies for similar personnel. We also experiecwapetition for the hiring of scientific and claal personnel from other compan
universities and research institutions. In additive rely on consultants and advisors, includingrgdic and clinical advisors, to assist u:
formulating our research and development, regutatord commercialization strategy. Our consultamd advisors may be employed
employers other than us and may have commitmemtsrwonsulting or advisory contracts with otheiitezg that may limit their availability
us.

We may have difficulty managing our growth.

We may continue to add employees or increase thgesof our operations. This potential future groedlild place a significant strz
on our management and operations. Our ability toaga growth will depend upon our ability to broadem management team and our ak
to attract, hire and retain skilled employees. Gueccess will also depend on the ability of ouragffs and key employees to continu
implement and improve our operational and othetesgs and to hire, train and manage our employees.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryfoands may be limited.

As of December 31, 2012, we had federal net opeyadtiss carryforwards, or NOLs, of $103.8 milliandffset future taxable incon
In 2012 and 2011, previously available NOLs of appnately $1.2 million and $0.9 million, respectiyeexpired. The remaining NOLs exg
in various years between 2018 and 2032, if noizetl. Under the provisions of the Internal Reve@ade, substantial changes in
ownership, in certain circumstances, will limit thenount of NOLs that can be utilized annually ie fature to offset taxable income.
particular, section 382 of the Internal Revenue €Cioaposes limitations on a company’s ability to dE@Ls if a company experiences a more
than-50% ownership change over a thyear period. If we are limited in our ability toausur NOLs in future years in which we have tax
income, we will pay more taxes than if we were dblatilize our NOLs fully. For example, as a résfla previous change in stock owners
the annual utilization of the net operating carrwfards generated in tax years prior to 2004 magutégect to limitation.
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In addition, existing rulings in the litigation WitPharmAthene, if not overturned in subsequentgedings, may limit our futu
profitability and therefore our ability to generdidure taxable income that we can use our candiods to offset.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties

Our headquarters are located in New York City, andresearch and development facilities are locatedorvallis, Oregon. In Ne
York, we occupy office space under an Office ServAigreement with an affiliate of a shareholder tlaat currently amended, is cancel
upon 60 days notice. In January 2013, we enteredarsublease with the aforementioned affiliatsublet expanded office space in a I
York City location to serve as new corporate headigus. The sublease is expected to commence firghbalf of 2013 and expires in 2020.

In Corvallis, we lease approximately 32,700 squiaet under an amended lease agreement signed uraryaf007, which wz
amended and extended on June 1, 2011. The Compangty occupied 5,700 square feet under a sublegieEment signed in January 2
which expired in September 2011. Our facility inre@on has been improved to meet the special regeirenmecessary for the operation of
research and development activities. The faciliéased in Corvallis includes space existing urtderprior lease terms and newly constru
space in the same building under the most recaselamendment. We believe that our current fasldire adequate to our needs.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

In December 2006, PharmAthene, Inc. (“PharmAthefigf)l an action against us in the Delaware Coti€loancery (the “Courtbr
“Court of Chancery”) captione®harmAthene, Inc. v. SGA Technologies, Inc. , C.A. No. 2627N. In its amended complaint, PharmAth
asked the Court to order us to enter into a liceiggeement with PharmAthene with respect to28%; also known as Arestvyr, to declare
we are obliged to execute such a license agreemedtio award damages resulting from our suppossath of that obligation. PharmAthe
also alleges that we breached an obligation to tietgasuch a license agreement in good faith, andtg damages for promissory estoppel
unjust enrichment based on supposed informatiopitataand assistance that PharmAthene allegediyiged to us during the negotiat
process. The Court tried the case in January 2011.

In September 2011, the Court of Chancery issuecdts-trial opinion. The Court denied PharmAthene2quests for speci
performance and expectation damages measured gnprealue of estimated future profits. Nevertheléise Court held that we breached
duty to negotiate in good faith and were liable @mithe doctrine of promissory estoppel. The Coonsequently awarded to PharmAthene
the Court described as an equitable payment stoeagquitable lien consisting of fifty percent okthet profits that we achieve from sale
ST-246 after we secure $40 million in net profits, fen years following the first commercial salealidition, the Court awarded PharmAth
one-third of its reasonable attorneys’ fees ancexpitness expenses.

In May 2012, the Court entered its final order ardhment in this matter, implementing its p&s# opinion. Among other things, t
final order and judgment provided that (a) net psodvill be calculated in accordance with generallicepted accounting principles app
consistently with how they are applied in the prafian of our financial statements, (b) the netfigocalculation will take into accou
expenses relating to ST-246 commencing with ouuistépn of ST246 in August 2004, and (c) PharmAthene may rec&2et million o
attorneys’fees and expenses. As of December 31, 2012, SIGAdwarded a $2.5 million loss contingency wittpeeg to the fee, expense |
interest portion of the judgment.

In June 2012, we appealed to the Supreme Couhieobtate of Delaware the final order and judgmedtaertain earlier rulings of t
Court of Chancery. Shortly thereafter, PharmAthiled its crossappeal. We obtained a stay of enforcement of theafel expense portion
the judgment by filing a surety bond for the amoahthe judgment plus pogtdgment interest. We posted $1.3 million as cefialt for the
surety bond which is recorded in other assets &eoémber 31, 2012.

On July 27, 2012, we filed our opening brief on eqdp identifying the following points of error: (e Court of Chancery erred
holding that we breached our obligation to negetiatgood faith following the termination of thedmAthene merger in 2006; (b) the C«
of Chancery erred in holding that PharmAthenassistance enriched the Company and that Phaeméib consequently entitled to relief ur
the doctrine of promissory estoppel; (c) the Co@i€hancery erred in awarding relief in
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the form of an equitable payment stream; and (@)burt of Chancery erred in awarding PharmAthepertion of its attorneysfees, expens
and expert witness costs.

On August 26, 2012, PharmAthene filed its openingefb answering with respect to our appeal and iagyun support ¢
PharmAthene’s crosappeal. With respect to the latter, PharmAtheningd that the Court of Chancery erred in not figdihat there was
binding license agreement and should have awaritleer especific performance or expectation dama@es.September 27, 2012, we file
final brief in respo nse. On October 8, 2012, Phtimane filed its final brief in response. The caajument on the appeal and cragpeal wa
heard before the Supreme Court of Delaware,en lmmdanuary 10, 2013 and the Court took the argtamerder advisement.

We expect that the Court of Chanceryinal order and judgment will have a materialtivarse impact on the Company and its fu

results of operations unless the appeal and @ppeal result in a materially positive change ®brtion of the ruling awarding the equite
payment stream or equitable lien. We cannot assureess on the appeal and cross-appeal.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
No disclosure is required pursuant to this item.
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Edty Securities
Price Range of Common Stock

Our common stock trades under the symbol “SIGir common stock has been traded on the Nasdag@@Wdrket since Septemt
3, 2009 and, prior to such date, had been tradatieiNasdaq Capital Market since September 9, 1R8ar to that time there was no pul
market for our common stock. The following tabléssterth, for the periods indicated, the high aow kales prices for the common stock

reported on the Nasdaq Global Market:

2012 High Low

First Quarter $ 3.8¢ 2.51
Second Quarter 3.5¢ 2.2
Third Quarter 3.57 2.72
Fourth Quarter 3.3¢ 2.3¢
2011 High Low

First Quarter $ 15.6¢ 10.6¢
Second Quarter 15.4( 9.5¢
Third Quarter 9.9t 2.61
Fourth Quarter 3.5¢ 1.7¢

As of February 15, 2013, the closing sale pricowf common stock was $3.9%r share. There were 41 holders of record
February 15, 2013. We believe that the number otfieial owners of our common stock is substantigileater than the number of rec
holders, because a large portion of common stobkli in broker “street names”.

We have paid no dividends on our common stock andad expect to pay cash dividends in the forededakure. We are not unc
any restriction as to our present or future abilitypay dividends. We currently intend to retaily &imure earnings to finance the growth
development of our business.

Performance Graph
The following line graph compares the cumulativealtstockholder return through December 31, 20E2uming reinvestment

dividends, by an investor who invested $100 on Dexsr 31, 2007 in each of (i) our common stock;tfig Nasdaq National Marké&tS; ant
(i) the Nasdaq Pharmaceutical Index.
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December 31,

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
SIGA Technologies, Inc. $ 10C $ 106 $ 18t $ 458 % 82 ¢ 85
NASDAQ Composite Index $ 10c $ 59 $ 86 $ 10c $ 98 % 114
NASDAQ Biotech Composite Index $ 10C $ 87 $ 101 $ 11€ % 13C % 171

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

The information required by this item concerninguséies authorized for issuance under equity camp#on plans is set forth in Ite
12, “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owhand Management and Related Stockholder Matters”.

Iltem 6. Selected Financial Data

The selected financial data for the years endededéer 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 and the consolidzdéxhce sheet data as
December 31, 2012 and 2011 have been derived fromawalited consolidated financial information irdihg elsewhere in this Annual Reg
on Form 10K. The selected financial data for the years endedember 31, 2009 and 2008 and the consolidatexhdmlsheet data as
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 have been defioedaudited consolidated financial statementsinoiuded in this annual report. T
following table should be read in conjunction witem 7, “Managemens’ Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiord d&esults ¢
Operations”, and the consolidated financial statesand related notes to those statements incleidedvhere in this annual report.

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Revenues $ 8971 $ 12,72¢ $ 19,21¢  $ 13,81: $ 8,06¢
Selling, general and administrative 11,41( 23,93: 8,131 7,53 4,60¢
Research and development 18,21 18,36 22,65¢ 17,42% 11,61¢
Patent preparation fees 1,88 1,80¢ 1,14¢ 734 582
Loss from operations (22,53¢) (31,38) (12,72} (11,87¢) (8,737)
Decrease (increase) in fair value of comstogk warrants 33¢ 8,931 (15,95)) (7,529 (1,510
Interest expense a7?) — — — —
Other income, net 1 13 65¢ 1 94
Loss before income taxes (22,377) (22,43 (28,020) (29,400 (20,159
Benefit from (provision for) income taxes 7,844 36,03: (a7%) — —
Net income (loss) $ (14,529 $ 13,59¢ (28,19 $ (19,400 $ (10,159
Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 0.2¢) $ 027 $ 0.67) $ (052) % 0.29
Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 0.2 $ 0.0¢ $ 062 $ 052 $ (0.29
Weighted average shares outstanding: basic 51,639,62 50,929,49 45,151,77 37,463,25 34,732,62
Weighted average shares outstanding: diluted 51,639,62 54,061,65 45,151,77 37,463,25 34,732,62
Cash and cash equivalents and short-term invessment $ 32,017 % 49,257 % 21,33 $ 19,49¢ $ 2,32:
Long-term obligations 4,12: 771 10,70( 9,73¢ 4,47
Total assets 105,83t 90,38( 27,03: 25,91¢ 8,797
Stockholders’ equity 28,947 41,68¢ 12,06¢ 7,158 1
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (20,22)) 25,57« (10,82Y) (8,47) (7,199
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and notes to those statements and
other financial information appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition to historical information, the following
discussion and other parts of this Annual Report contain forward-looking information that involves risks and uncertainties .

Overview

We are a pharmaceutical company specializing irdthelopment and commercialization of pharmacelusiclutions for some of tl
most lethal disease-causing pathogens in the woslthallpox, Ebola, dengue, Lassa fever and otheratang viruses. Our business i
discover, develop, manufacture and commercializgglto prevent and treat these hmgferity threats. Our mission is to disarm dreadédl
diseases and create robust, modern biodefenseecmedsures.

Lead Product - Arestvyr

Our lead product, Arestvyr (tecovirimat), also kmoas ST246, is an orally administered antiviral drug tterigets orthopoxviruse
On May 13, 2011, we signed the BARDA Contract parguo which we agreed to deliver two million casof Arestvyr to the Strate
Stockpile. The base contract, worth approximatetg3million, includes $54 million related to devefoent and supportive activities ¢
contains various options to be exercised at BARDdiscretion. The period of performance for develept and supportive activities runs u
2020. As originally issued, the BARDA Contract mgéd an option for the purchase of up to 12 millamditional courses of Arestv
however, following a protest by a competitor of thempany, BARDA issued a contract modification amel 24, 2011 pursuant to whicl
deleted the option to purchase the additional esurEinder the BARDA Contract as modified, BARDA lageed to buy from SIGA 1
million courses of Arestvyr. Additionally, SIGA wJilcontribute to BARDA 300,000 courses manufactuggonarily using federal func
provided by HHS under prior development contrattee BARDA Contract as modified also contains opgittmat will permit SIGA to contint
its work on pediatric and geriatric formulationsthe drug as well as use Arestvyr for smallpox pydaxis. As discussed in Item 3. éga
Proceedings”the amount of profits we will retain pursuant te BARDA Contract is subject to the judgment entdrgdhe Delaware Court
Chancery in PharmAthene's action against SIGA hadttcome of the pending appeal and cross-appeal.

We expect Arestvyr will be among the first new damablecule drugs delivered to the Strategic Stockpilder Project BioShiel
Arestvyr is an investigational product that is motrently approved by FDA as a treatment of smallpo any other indication. FDA h
designated Arestvyr for “fast-track” status, cregta path for expedited FDA review and eventualliagry approval.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The methods, estimates and judgments we use igiagpur accounting policies have a significant &opon the results we repor
our consolidated financial statements, which wewlis under the heading “Results of Operationsb¥alhg this section of our Management’
Discussion and Analysis. Some of our accountingci@d require us to make difficult and subjectiudgments, often as a result of the ne¢
make estimates of matters that are inherently tmicerOur most critical accounting estimates ineluble valuation of stockased awart
including options and warrants, revenue recognjtimpairment of assets and income taxes. Belowdigeuss these policies further, as we
the estimates and judgments involved.

Critical Accounting Policies

The following is a brief discussion of the sign#id accounting policies and methods used by useirpteparation of our consolida
financial statements. Note 2 of the Notes to th@dbidated Financial Statements includes a sumrofigll of the significant accountil
policies.

Share-based Compensation

We account for our stodkased compensation using the fair value recognji@visions prescribed by the authoritative guiganehict
requires the measurement and recognition of congpiensexpense for all shab®sed payment awards made to employees and dg
including employee stock options based on estimaiedalues.
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Stockbased compensation expense for 2012, 2011 and\®84®1.8 million, $12.5 million and $1.5 milliorespectively. The fa
value of share-based awards is determined on #re date; for options awards, fair value is gemgesdtimated using the Blackeholes mod
and for stock appreciation rights, fair value itireated using a Monte Carlo method. The value efgbrtion of the award that is ultimat
expected to vest is recorded as expense over thesite periods in our consolidated statement afrafions. Determining the fair value
stockbased awards at the grant date requires judgnrenitiding estimating the expected term over whidtlstawards will be outstandi
before they are exercised, the expected volatiftpur stock, and the number of stdeksed awards that are expected to be forfeiteid
reasonably likely that future assumptions may ckaimgwhich case the fair value of future optioraads may exceed or fall short of histor
calculated fair values. In addition, for stock ops with performance conditions, on a quarterhyida® estimate the most probable outcon
the performance conditions in order to determimeaimount of compensation costs to be recordedtbgaemaining vesting period.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalentuats receivable, sharm investments, accounts payable and accruechss;
approximates fair value due to the relatively stmaturity of these instruments. Common stock wassamhich are classified as liabilities
recorded at their fair market value as of eachntéppperiod.

The measurement of fair value requires the usedfriiques based on observable and unobservables.irploservable inputs refl
market data obtained from independent sourcesgewtmibbservable inputs reflect our market assumptidhe inputs create the following 1
value hierarchy:

* Level 1 —-Quoted prices for identical instruments in activarkets

» Level 2 —Quoted prices for similar instruments in active keas; quoted prices for identical or similar instrents in markets th
are not active; and model-derived valuations wigpats are observable or where significant valueeds are observable.

» Level 3 -nstruments where significant value drivers arehssovable to third partie

We use modetierived valuations where inputs are observablectivea markets to determine the fair value of certadmmon stoc
warrants on a recurring basis and classify suchamss in Level 2. The Blac&choles model utilizes inputs consisting of: (8 thosing price ¢
our common stock; (ii) the expected remaining diféhe warrants; (iii) the expected volatility ugia weightedaverage of historical volatiliti
of SIGA and a group of comparable companies; amdtfie riskfree market rate. At December 31, 2012, the faluevaf $287,036 w
classified as current common stock warrants onbtlance sheet. At December 31, 2011, the fair vafu$622,938 was classified as non
current common stock warrants.

For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 201didvet hold any Level 3 securities.

Revenue Recognitio
Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence afrangement exists, delivery has occurred, teeddixed and determinab
collectability is reasonably assured, title an& d§loss have been transferred to the customettaareé are no further contractual obligations.

Certain arrangements may provide for multiple delbles, in which there may be a combination offrapt licenses; resear
development, regulatory or other services; andvegfi of product. Multiple deliverable arrangemensn be divided into separate unit:
accounting if the deliverables in the arrangemea¢tthe following criteria: (i) the delivered iteshave value to the customer on a stand.
basis and (i) in circumstances in which an arramgrg includes a general right of return with resgedaelivered items, then performanci
the remaining deliverables must be considered feband substantially in control of the Companymiiltiple deliverables cannot be divic
into separate units of accounting then the dellbesamust be combined into a single unit of acdognt

Total consideration in a multiple deliverable agament is allocated to units of accounting on atined fair value of selling pric
basis. Consideration allocated to a delivered ibemnit of accounting is limited to the amount tighot contingent upon delivery of additio
items.

The BARDA Contract is a multiple deliverable arrangent comprising delivery of courses and coversgarch and developm
activities. The BARDA Contract provides certain gwot replacement rights with respect to deliveredrses. For this reason, recognitiol
revenue that might otherwise occur upon delivergairses is expected to be deferred until our atibgs related to potential replacemer
delivered courses are satisfied. Furthermore, payrfe delivered courses and reimbursement of atsoure spend on covered resei
services is not contractually due to commence aftér we have

32




Table of Contents

delivered the first 500,000 courses. Accordingly vese deferred revenue for all amounts receivedate. Once we have delivered the
500,000 courses, we expect to recognize revenue respect to BARDAS obligation to reimburse the cost of covered netean
development services performed prior to this point.

Subject to the above, payments for developmentitiet are recognized as revenue is earned, oegoehiod of effort. Funding for t
acquisition of capital assets under cost-gees-contracts and grants is evaluated for apprpriecognition as a reduction to the cost o
acquired asset, a financing arrangement, or revdrased on the specific terms of the related gyanontract.

Goodwill

The purchase price of an acquired company is abdchetween intangible assets and the net tang#islets of the acquired busir
with the residual of the purchase price recordedasiwill. The determination of the fair value betassets acquired and liabilities asst
involves certain judgments and estimates.

At December 31, 2012, our goodwill totaled $898,00( evaluate goodwill for impairment at least aalyuor as circumstanc
warrant. Goodwill is tested for recoverability been annual evaluations whenever events or chang@sumstances indicate that the carr
amounts may not be recoverable. The impairmeneveyrocess compares the fair value of the repodinigin which goodwill resides to
carrying value. In 2012, we operated as one busiard one reporting unit. Therefore, the goodwilbairment analysis was performed on
basis of the Company as a whole using our markgtat&zation as an estimate of our fair value.he past, our market capitalization has |
significantly in excess of our carrying value. # possible that our future market capitalizationynfiall short of our current mark
capitalization, in which case a potential impairineould result. Also, the use of an alternativehodt such as the discounted expected f
cash flows or market comparables to evaluate tihevédue of the Company as a whole will possiblpgarce different results from our mar
capitalization.

Income Taxes

Determining the consolidated provision for incorag expense, deferred tax assets and liabilitiesraeladed valuation allowance,
any, involves judgment. The recognition of a vahrmtallowance for deferred taxes requires managertemake estimates and judgme
about our future profitability which are inherentiycertain. On an ogeing basis, we evaluate whether a valuation allmgas needed
reduce our deferred income tax assets to an antbahtis more likely than not to be realized. Thalaation process includes asses
historical and current results in addition to fetexpected results.

Our assessment that our deferred tax assets witkdlezed is based on estimates of future taxaflerne arising from the BARC
Contract. If the current estimates of future tagabicome are reduced or not realized, for examipdsed on an appellate ruling in
PharmAthene litigation described in Item 3 “Legabéeedings”our assessment regarding the realization of defdee assets could chan
Future changes in the estimated amount of defeaxass expected to be realized will be reflectedunfinancial statements in the period
estimate is changed with a corresponding adjustteeaperating results. Changes in estimates mayraoaed can have a significant favore
or unfavorable impact on our operating results fmeriod to period.

Recent Accounting Pronouncemen

In September 2011, the Financial Accounting Stasel&oard (the “FASB”)issued updated accounting guidance which ame
guidance on how to test goodwill for impairmentisThpdate permits an entity to first assess quisdtdactors to determine whether it is m
likely than not that the fair value of a reportiagit is less than its carrying amount as a basisléermining whether it is necessary to per
a twostep goodwill impairment test. The updated guidasceffective for annual impairment tests perforniediscal years beginning af
December 15, 2011 with early adoption permitteds Tipdate was adopted for the year ended Decenih@032 and it did not have a mate
impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In May 2011, the FASB issued additional guidancdanvalue measurements that clarifies the apfticaof existing guidance a
disclosure requirements, changes certain fair valeasurement principles and requires additionallaisires about fair value measurems
The updated guidance is effective during interird annual period beginning after December 15, 20his update was adopted for the )
ended December 31, 2012 and it did not have a rabit@pact on our consolidated financial statements

In May 2011, the FASB issued guidance that chatigedequirement for presenting “Comprehensive Irefbim the consolidated
financial statements. The update requires an etatipyesent the components of other comprehensogarie either in a single continuous
statement of comprehensive income or in two sepdmatt consecutive statements. The update is aféefrr fiscal years, and interim periods
within those years, beginning after December 13,124nd should be applied retrospectively. We adbihtis new guidance on January 1, 2(
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain consolidat#dtements of operations data as a percentagetofemenue for the peria
indicated:

2012 2011 2010
Revenue 10C % 10C% 10C%
Selling, general and administrative 127 % 188% 42 %
Research and development 205 % 144% 118%
Patent preparation fees 21 % 14 % 6 %
Operating loss 251 % 247 % 66 %

Years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010

Revenues from research and development contradtgrants for the years ended December 31, 2012@hdt, were $9.0 million ai
$12.7 million, respectively. The decrease of $3ilfian, or 30%, is primarily attributable to the tienpact of a $5.0 million decrease in cont
and grant revenues related to Arestvyr, denguebaoad spectrum, offset by a $1.2 million increasgrant revenues related to Lassa fe
The largest portion of the net decrease in revenaewes from the restructuring of an NIH Arestvyniact in connection with entry into 1
BARDA Contract in 2011, which impacted the timinggrant usage and the amount of funds availablei$age. Additionally, $1.2 million
the revenue decrease is attributable to the candus late 2011 of two federal grants supportiegelopment of a broad spectrum antiviral.

Revenues from research and development contradtgramts for the years ended December 31, 201R2ahd, were $12.7 millic
and $19.2 million, respectively. The decrease ob $6illion, or 34%, relates to a $3.1 million dezse in revenue mainly due to the conclu
of a federal Arestvyr contract in the third quardér2011, and to a $3.7 million revenue decreaséatable to the conclusion in 2010 ¢
federal grant mainly supporting development of adaafever antiviral.

Selling, general and administrative expenses (“SG&ar the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 $tdrd million and $23
million, respectively, reflecting a decrease of mpgmately $12.5 million or 52%. The decrease in&3Gexpenses primarily relates tc
decrease in non-cash stock-based compensationpobxamately $10.7 million and a $1.6 million noeeurring loss contingency expe
recorded in 2011 in connection with the PharmAthéigation.

SG&A for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 28%4@ $23.9 million and $8.1 million, respectivetgflecting an increase
approximately $15.8 million or 195%. The increaseSIG&A expenses mainly relates to a $13.0 millioaréase in compensation expe
which includes an increase in non-cash stoaked compensation of approximately $11.1 milland an increase of $2.0 million for
estimated loss contingency in connection with agoamg legal dispute.

Research and development (“R&EYpenses were $18.2 million for the year ended Déee 31, 2012, approximately matching the $
million incurred during the year ended December2Bil1. Decreases in direct vendelated expenses supporting the development oftvne
dengue antivirals and broagpectrum antivirals were offset by increases ineesps related to various operation initiatives, leygg
compensation and vendor-related costs supportedelielopment of Lassa fever antivirals.

R&D expenses were $18.4 million for the yeaded December 31, 2011, a decrease of $4.3 mdlidi®% from the $22.7 million incurr
during the year ended December 31, 2010. The deeneas primarily due to direct vendelated expenses supporting the developme
Arestvyr decreasing $4.8 million from the prior yeaffset by an increase to employee compensatipereses as a result of hiring additic
R&D personnel. As of December 31, 2011 and 2010haek61 and 57 full-time R&D personnel, respectivel

During the years ended December 31, 2012, 20112am6, we incurred direct costs of $7.4 million,Zillion and $12.2 millior
respectively, on the development of Arestvyr. Dgrthe year ended December 31, 2012, we spent $lli8nnon internal human resourc
dedicated to the drug’development and $6.0 million mainly on manufaofyand clinical testing. During the year ended &wber 31, 201
we spent $1.4 million on internal human resourceslichted to the drug’ development and $5.8 million mainly on packagamy
manufacturing. From inception of the ST-246 develept program tatate, we invested a total of $52.7 million in tlregram, of which $9.
million supported internal human resources, and.®48illion were used mainly for manufacturing, @ial and preclinical work. Thes
resources reflect research and development expditsetly
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related to the program. They exclude additionakexiitures such as patent costs, allocation oféatiexpenses, and other services provide
NIH and DoD.

During the years ended December 31, 2012, 20112846, we incurred direct costs of $2.2 million, Bnillion and $2.5 millior
respectively, to support the development of drugdadates for dengue fever, Lassa fever virus ahdrairug candidates for certain arenan
pathogens and hemorrhagic fevers. During the yrdea December 31, 2012, $1.2 million was spentnternal human resources and ¢
million was spent mainly on the optimization anctistry of lead antiviral compounds. During theryeaded December 31, 2011, we s
$1.7 million for dengue fever, Lassa virus and otheig candidates for certain arenavirus pathogadshemorrhagic fevers, of which $766,
was mainly for internal human resources and $916{00medicinal chemistry and podinical testing of our drug candidates. From irtcapof
these programs to date, we spent a total of $12l®mrelated to the programs, of which $4.4 naili $7.7 million and $299,000 wt
expended on internal human resources, cfirdeal work and equipment, respectively. Thessoteces reflect research and develop
expenses directly related to the programs. Thejudgcadditional expenditures such as patent calitgation of indirect expenses, and o
services provided by NIH and DoD.

During the years ended December 31, 2012, ,284d 2010, we spent $4,000, $981,000 and $1.3omilfespectively, to support |
development of a broaspectrum antiviral drug candidate. During the yaaded December 31, 2012, the $4,000 incurred werst $p suppo
medicinal chemistry. During the year ended Decen®ier2011, we spent $329,000 on internal humanuress and $653,000 mainly on
optimization of lead antiviral compounds. From theeption of our program to develop a broad-spectantiviral drug todate, we have sper
total of $2.5 million related to the program, of ialin $1.0 million and $1.5 million were mainly exmgid on internal human resources
supporting medicinal chemistry and the optimizatidhead antiviral compounds, respectively. Thessources reflect expenses directly rel
to the program. They exclude additional expend#uech as patent costs, allocation of indirect eggg, and other services provided by
and DoD.

The majority of our product programs are in thdyearage of development. As a result, we cannotamalasonable estimates of
potential cost for most of our programs to be catgd or the time it will take to complete the prngs. There is a high risk of n@empletiot
of any program because of the lead time to programpletion, scientific issues that may arise anckuinty of the costs. However, we cc
receive additional grants, contracts or technolagnses in the shoterm. The potential cash and timing is not knowd @ cannot be certe
if they will ever occur. If we are unable to obtaidditional federal funding in the required amoutite development timeline for these prod
would slow or possibly be suspended.

Patent preparation expenses for the years endeehiber 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 were $1.9 milliong $illion and $1.1 millior
respectively. These expenses reflect our ongoifogtefto protect our lead drug candidates in expdrgkographic territories.

Changes in the fair value of certain warrants tgu&de common stock are recorded as gains or lofsgghe years ended Decen
31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, we recorded a gain o6.$88, a gain of $8.9 million and a loss of $16i0iom, respectively, reflecting changes
the fair market value of warrants and rights tochase common stock during the respective years.wilmeants and rights to purchase
common stock were recorded at fair market valueciaskified as liabilities.

Interest expense for the year ended December 32, ®8s $173,000, reflecting certain vendor payahiangements.

Other income for the years ended December 31, 200P1, and 2010, was $500, $13,000 and $659,08pecévely. Other incon
normalized in 2011, after we received $648,000 fitbm U.S. government in 2010 for qualified therajedrug discovery tax grant. Ott
income in 2012, 2011 and 2010 consists of inténestme on our cash and cash equivalents.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, we incureetbases for tax purposes and consequently, rezedjan income tax benefit
$7.8 million. For the year ended December 31, 2€1id benefit from income taxes of $36.0 million nigireflects net losses as well as a pz
reduction of our valuation allowance as a significportion of our deferred tax assets became w@dalbzon a more likely than not be
primarily as a result of the execution of the BAR@Antract and forecasts of ptax earnings. Prior to June 30, 2011, we provideex
valuation allowance on our United States federdlstate deferred tax assets based on our evalibtibsuch assets were natdre likely thal
not” to be realized.

The recognition of a valuation allowance for defdrtaxes requires management to make estimatepidgishents about our futt
profitability which are inherently uncertain. Defed tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowahes, in the opinion of management,
more likely than not that some portion or all of tiheferred tax assets will not be realized. Ifaheent estimates of future taxable income
reduced or not realized, for example, based onpaelite ruling in the PharmAthene litigation désed in Item 3, “Legal Proceedingshe
Companys assessment regarding the realization of deféasedssets could change. Future changes in thaateti amount of deferred ta
expected to be realized will be reflected in thenpany’s
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financial statements in the period the estimathanged with a corresponding adjustment to opeyadsults. Changes in estimates may
often and can have a significant favorable or uorfalble impact on the Company’s operating resutifperiod to period.

In 2012 and 2011, previously available NOLs of appnately $1.2 and $0.9 million, respectively, arpi.The remaining NOI
expire in various years between 2018 and 203ytifitilized.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

On December 31, 2012, we had $32.0 million in casth cash equivalents compared with $49.3 milliobetember 31, 2011. Duri
the year ended December 31, 2012, we received .8 $iftion milestone payment upon receiving FDA comrence with respect to the proc
labeling strategy under the BARDA Contract and preceeds of $4.9 million from the issuance of defbér deducting the discount and is
costs.

In December 2012, we entered into a loan agreemihta lender to provide the Company a term loa$®D million with a fixe
interest rate of 9.85% per annum and a revolving &f credit of $7.0 million with a variable intsteate. Borrowings under the revolving |
of credit are based on eligible outstanding accovateivable and will bear interest at a rate peuen equal to 5.25% plus the higher of:
1.50%, and (b) thremonth LIBOR divided by a defined factor. The terfittee loan is three years. As of December 31, 2@i2full term loa
amount of $5 million was outstanding and no amouvese available to borrow against the revolving lof credit as there were no eligi
accounts receivable.

Operating activities

Net cash used in operations for the year ended eee 31, 2012 was $20.2 million; net cash provibgdperations for the ye
ended December 31, 2011 was $25.6 million and ash ased in operations during the year ended Dezmefih 2010 was $10.8 million.
2012, the Company used $17.6 million of cash fer mwmanufacture of Arestvyr and $1.4 million of cdsh development and support
activities for Arestvyr. These cash uses relatdéoperformance of the BARDA contract. Partialljsetting the aboveaentioned items was t
receipt of a $12.3 million milestone payment on B#RDA contract relating to FDA concurrence witlspect to SIGAS labeling strategy fi
Arestvyr. In 2011, operating cash increased withrééteipt of a $41 million advance payment on tARBA contract.

On December 31, 2012 and 2011, our accounts redseidaalance was $4.7 million and $2.6 million, msfvely. Our accou
receivable balances primarily reflect $3.8 milliohreimbursable development and support costs ieduas part of the work performed ur
the BARDA Contract. SIGA will receive reimbursemenrice the Company meets minimum delivery thresholdi®e remaining accour
receivable balance reflects work performed durirg&nber 2012 in connection with Arestvyr, dengwerf@ntiviral and Lassa fever antivi
development contracts. Funds outstanding relatetetalengue fever antiviral and Lassa fever amivdevelopment contracts were collet
during January and February 2013. Our accountshpayaccrued expenses and other current liabiliedance were $14.5 million and $
million on December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectivd@lye increase is mainly due to outstanding payalbte contract manufacturi
organizations for inventory processed under the BARContract.

Investing activities

Capital expenditures during the years ended Decer@be 2012, 2011, and 2010 were approximately $8%8, $237,000 ar
$550,000, respectively, reflecting purchases oédivassets in the ordinary course of business. ditiand, for the year ended December
2012, we posted $1.3 million of collateral for aety bond related to the PharmAthene litigation.

The years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 inckeledtal purchases and maturities of U.S. Tredslisy

Financing activities

Cash provided by financing activities was $4.9 imil] $2.6 million and $13.2 million, during the yeeended December 31, 20
2011, and 2010, respectively. During the year endedember 31, 2012, we received proceeds of $10,000 exercises of options
purchase common stock and net proceeds of $4.Bmitom the issuance of debt.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, we redgiveceeds of $3.9 million from exercises of opi@nd warrants to purch:i
common stock. The amount of proceeds was offsethigy repurchase of common stock to meet minimumutstigt tax withholdin
requirements.

During the year ended December 31, 2010, we redgiveceeds of $13.2 million from exercises of opgi@nd warrants to purchi
common stock including proceeds under a lettereagent dated June 19, 2008 (as amended, the “Lagerement”)with MacAndrews ¢
Forbes LLC (“M&F"), a related party.
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Other

We have incurred cumulative net losses and expeatctur additional expenses to perform further aege and development activiti
We anticipate that we will need additional fundsydnd current capital resources, to complete teldpment of our products. We believe
the funds expected to be generated from our praweme contract with BARDA (see Note 3) together wotlr existing capital resources
continuing government contracts and grants wilkb&icient to support our operations beyond thet ieelve months. Payment from BARI
for delivery of courses of Arestvyr will not comnenuntil after delivery of 500,000 courses. We entlly expect achievement of this threslt
and the resulting receipt of funds from BARDA tocaoc during 2013. If 500,000 courses are not dedigienr if payment for delivery is r
received in 2013, then the Company will experieacggnificant reduction in our forecasted capitsaurces and cash flows and consequ
will need to seek additional capital resources.hSesources might include procurement contracifglmarative agreements, strategic allian
research grants and future equity and debt fingndihere is no assurance that we will be successftaining additional funding, or whetl
any funding from an equity or debt financing woblg available on commercially reasonable termg, &@lalf we are unable to raise additio
capital, future operations might need to be schhezk or discontinued. Furthermore, as discusséiin 3, “Legal Proceedingsbtur ability tc
support our operations may be adversely affectethbyesolution of the pending appeal and caygseal in the litigation with PharmAthe
The financial statements do not include any adjastmelating to the recoverability of the carrymmount of recorded assets and liabilities
might result from the outcome of these uncertagntie

Contractual Obligations, Commercial Commitments andPurchase Obligations

Future contractual obligations and commercial commants as of December 31, 2012 are expected te fodlaws:

Payments due by period

Greater than 5

Total Less than 1 year 1to 3 years 3to 5 years years
Operating lease obligations (1) $ 4511,43 $ 866,09t $ 1,783,33. $ 1,862,00. $ —
Long term debt (2) 5,853,34 1,437,45! 4,415,88 — —
Purchase obligations 11,851,10 11,851,10 — — —
Total contractual ob|igations $ 22,21588 $ 14,154,666 $ 6,19922 $ 1,862,000 $ —
(1) Includes facilities and office space undercagerating lease which expires in 2017. These ofitige assume notermination o

agreements and represent expected payments, wieichulject to change. In January 2013, we entetedii sublease with an affili:
of M&F, which is expected to commence in the finstf of 2013 and to expire in 2020; rent paymenidan the sublease are
included in the above schedule. Refer to Note 8udher description.

(2) Consists of a $5 million term loan with a fixedargst rate of 9.85%. The amounts in the table abeseme the payment of interes
our term loan through its maturity date and thenpayt amount of the notes in accordance with the szgeement. Interest is paye
monthly.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
The Company does not have any off-balance shemigements.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Aout Market Risk

Our investment portfolio includes cash, cash edaiva and shorterm investments. Our main investment objectives t
preservation of investment capital and the maxitroneof aftertax returns on our investment portfolio. We beli¢hvat our investment policy
conservative, both in the duration of our investtaeand the credit quality of the investments wedh@Ve do not utilize derivative financ
instruments, derivative commodity instruments dreotmarket risk sensitive instruments, positionsransactions to manage exposur
interest rate changes. Accordingly, we believe, tdile the securities we hold are subject to clearig the financial standing of the issue
such securities and our interest income is semsitichanges in the general level of U.S. intaiasts, we are not subject to any material
arising from changes in interest rates, foreigmenuy exchange rates, commodity prices, equityepriar other market changes that a
market risk sensitive instruments.
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Iltem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Index to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of S[Ghnologies, Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated bz#asheets and the related consolidated statemémpevations and comprehens
income/loss, of changes in stockholdeesjuity and of cash flows present fairly, in all evé&l respects, the financial position of SI
Technologies, Inc. and its subsidiatyDecember 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, anes$héts of their operations and their cash floar
each of the three years in the period ended Dece&ihe2012in conformity with accounting principles generadlgcepted in the United Sta
of America. Also in our opinion, the Company main&al, in all material respects, effective interoahtrol over financial reporting as
December 31, 2012, based on criteria establishethtannal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponso
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSOg Tbmpanys management is responsible for these financitdrstnts, for maintainir
effective internal control over financial reportiagd for its assessment of the effectiveness efrial control over financial reporting, incluc
in Managemens Report on Internal Control over Financial Repartinder Item 9A. Our responsibility is to exprepmions on these financ
statements and on the Company’s internal contret ancial reporting based on aategrated audits. We conducted our audits in alzoo
with the standards of the Public Company Accountihngrsight Board (United States). Those standa¥dsire that we plan and perform
audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whetbeinancial statements are free of material tatssnent and whether effective intel
control over financial reporting was maintainedailh material respects. Our audits of the finansi@tements included examining, on a
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and digessn the financial statements, assessing theuatiog principles used and signific
estimates made by management, and evaluating #ralbfinancial statement presentation. Our autlibternal control over financial reporti
included obtaining an understanding of internaltadrover financial reporting, assessing the risatta material weakness exists, and te
and evaluating the design and operating effectis®emé internal control based on the assessed@igk.audits also included performing s
other procedures as we considered necessary airthuenstances. We believe that our audits provideaaonable basis for our opinions.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is @ess designed to provide reasonable assuranaeliregthe reliability of financie
reporting and the preparation of financial statetmdor external purposes in accordance with gelyemicepted accounting principles
companys internal control over financial reporting inclgdiose policies and procedures that (i) pertaithéomaintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleet ttansactions and dispositions of the assetseotdmpany; (ii) provide reasonable assur
that transactions are recorded as necessary toitpgraparation of financial statements in accor@amdgth generally accepted accoun
principles, and that receipts and expenditureshef dompany are being made only in accordance withoasizations of management :
directors of the company; and (iii) provide readsleaassurance regarding prevention or timely deteaf unauthorized acquisition, use
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzanweterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, o
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

/s/ PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

New York, New York
March 6, 2013
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SIGA TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011

2012 2011
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 32,017,49 $ 49,256,93
Accounts receivable 970,28t 2,637,10:
Inventory 17,641,92 —
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 801,14¢ 356,89¢
Deferred tax assets 33,515,32 727,77.
Total current assets 84,946,17 52,978,70
Property, plant and equipment, net 987,86¢ 818,99:
Receivables from long-term contract 3,771,21! —
Deferred costs 2,841,53. 250,07:
Goodwill 898,33: 898,33
Other assets 2,181,721 285,34!
Deferred tax assets, net 10,209,27 35,149,03
Total assets $ 105,836,13 $ 90,380,47
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 10,189,91 $ 2,278,31
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 4,283,84! 4,644,46
Current common stock warrants 287,03t —
Current portion of long term debt 954,73t —
Total current liabilities 15,715,54 6,922,77
Deferred revenue 57,052,02 41,001,11
Common stock warrants — 622,93t
Long term debt 3,955,26: —
Other liabilities 166,30: 147,58t
Total liabilities 76,889,12 48,694,41
Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)
Stockholders’ equity
Common stock ($.0001 par value, 100,000,000 staré®rized, 51,642,520 and 51,637,352 issued atstboding at December 31,
2012, and December 31, 2011, respectively) 5,164 5,16¢
Additional paid-in capital 152,340,30 150,551,21
Accumulated deficit (123,398,46) (108,870,30)
Total stockholders’ equity 28,947,00 41,686,06
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 10583613 $ 90,380,47

The accompanying notes are an integral part of thesfinancial statements.
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SIGA TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHEN SIVE INCOME/LOSS

For the Years Ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and P01

2012 2011 2010
Revenues
Research and development $ 8,970,83" $ 12,725,719  $ 19,215,83
Operating expenses
Selling, general and administrative 11,410,13 23,931,71 8,130,66
Research and development 18,213,03 18,367,34 22,658,95
Patent preparation fees 1,883,40! 1,808,16: 1,148,59
Total operating expenses 31,506,57 44,107,22 31,938,22
Operating loss (22,535,73) (31,381,43) (12,722,38)
Decrease (increase) in fair value of common stoakants 335,90: 8,930,901 (15,957,06)
Interest expense (172,99) — —
Other income, net 522 13,061 659,29:
Loss before income taxes (22,372,30) (22,437,47) (28,020,16)
Benefit from (provision for) income taxes 7,844,15: 36,031,64 (175,17)
Net income (loss) $ (14,528,15) 13,594,17 (28,195,33)
Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 0.2 $ 027 $ (0.62)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ (0.2§) 0.0¢ (0.62)
Weighted average shares outstanding: basic 51,639,62 50,929,49 45,151,77
Weighted average shares outstanding: diluted 51,639,62 54,061,65 45,151,77
Net income (loss) $ (14528,15) $ 13,594,17 $  (28,195,33)
Change in net unrealized gain (loss) on short-iekestments — (4,067 4,067
Comprehensive income (loss) $ (14,528,15) $  13590,10 $ (28,191,27)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of thesfinancial statements.
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SIGA TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’

For the Years Ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and P01

EQUITY

Accumulated

Additional Other Total
Common Stock Paid - In Accumulated Comprehensive Stockholders’
Shares Amount Capital Deficit Income (Loss) Equity

Balances, December 31, 2009 43,061,63 $ 4306 $ 101,417,677 $ (94,269,14) $ —  $ 7,152,83
Net loss (28,195,33) (28,195,33)
Change in net unrealized gain (loss) on short-term

investments 4,067 4,06
Comprehensive loss (28,191,27)
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stodkrugpt

and warrants 5,957,80: 59¢ 13,196,39 13,196,99
Stock based compensation 1,483,95! 1,483,95!
Fair value of exercised common stock warrants 18,426,27 18,426,27
Balances, December 31, 2010 49,019,44 4,90: 134,524,30 (122,464,48) 4,067 12,068,78
Net income 13,594,17 13,594,17
Change in net unrealized gain (loss) on short-term

investments (4,067) (4,067)
Comprehensive income 13,590,10
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stodkrmupt

and warrants 2,123,45. 21¢ 3,946,02 3,946,23
Stock based compensation 700,00( 7C 12,463,70 12,463,77
Tax obligation from stock-based compensation (205,54 (23) (1,353,63) (1,353,65)
Fair value of exercised common stock warrants 970,81t 970,81t
Balances, December 31, 2011 51,637,35 5,16¢ 150,551,21 (108,870,30) — 41,686,06
Net loss (14,528,15) (14,528,15)
Change in net unrealized gain (loss) on short-term

investments —
Comprehensive loss (14,528,15)
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stodkmupt

and warrants 5,16¢ — 9,571 9,571
Stock based compensation 1,779,51! 1,779,51
Balances, December 31, 2012 51,64252 $ 516« $ 152,340,30 $ (123,398,46) $ —  $ 28,947,00

The accompanying notes are an integral part of thesfinancial statements.
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SIGA TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and P01

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income (loss)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to reshcprovided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation and other amortization
Increase (decrease) in fair value of warrants
Stock based compensation
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable

Inventory

Deferred costs

Prepaid expenses

Other assets

Deferred income taxes, net

Accounts payable, accrued agpe and other current liabilities

Deferred revenue
Other liabilities
Net cash provided by (used in) opegaactivities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures
Collateral for surety bond
Proceeds from maturity of short term investments
Purchases of short term investments
Net cash provided by (used in) invesactivities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net proceeds from exercise of warrants and options
Repurchase of common stock
Proceeds from the issuance of debt
Net cash provided by financing atita
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equisalent
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash financing &ietsz

Reclass of common stock warrant liability to iiddal paid-in capital upon warrant exercise

2012 2011 2010

(14,528,15) $  13,594,17 $ (28,195,33)
419,35 568,28 625,34:
(335,90 (8,930,901 15,947,00
1,779,51! 12,463,77 1,483,95
(2,104,40) 365,04: (596,28)
(17,641,92) — _
(2,591,46) (250,07:) —
(444,25) 12,11¢ 1,216,05.
(548,419 (4,697 24,10
(7,847,80) (36,051,97) 175,17!
7,550,98! 2,659,59 (125,929
16,050,91 41,001,11 —
18,71 147,58 (1,379,47)
(20,222,82) 25,574,03 (10,825,38)
(588,23) (237,02) (549,949
(1,347,95) — —
— 40,000,00 31,250,00
— (25,004,71) (41,235,92)
(1,936,19) 14,758,26 (10,535,86)
9,571 3,946,23 13,196,99

— (1,353,65) —
4,910,001 — —
4,919,57 2,592,58. 13,196,99
(17,239,44) 42,924,87 (8,164,26)
49,256,93 6,332,05: 14,496,31
32,017,49 $ 4925693 $  6,332,05
— 3 970,81¢ $  18,426,27

The accompanying notes are an integral part of thesfinancial statements




SIGA TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization and Basis of Presentation

Description of Busines:

SIGA Technologies, Inc. (“SIGA” or the “Companyi§ a pharmaceutical company specializing in theetlpment and commercialization
pharmaceutical solutions for some of the most ledisease-causing pathogens in the workginallpox, Ebola, dengue, Lassa fever and
dangerous viruses. The Company aims to discoverlole, manufacture and commercialize drugs to preead treat these higtriority
threats. The Company’s mission is to disarm dreattetldiseases and create robust, modern biodefemsntermeasures.

Basis of presentatiol
The consolidated financial statements are preséntadcordance with generally accepted accountimgiples in the United States of Amer
("US GAAP”) and reflect the consolidated finangmsition, results of operations and cash flowsafbperiods presented.

The consolidated financial statements have beepaped on a basis which assumes that the Compahgamtinue as a going concern |
which contemplates the realization of assets aads#tisfaction of liabilities and commitments ir thormal course of business. Managel
believes that the funds expected to be generatad fts procurement contract with the Biomedical Adee Research and Developn
Authority (“BARDA”") (see Note 3) together with existing capital resosianed continuing government grants and contradtdwisufficient tc
support its operations beyond the next twelve ngnits discussed in Note 3, payment from BARDA fetiwkry of courses of Arestvyt™
(tecovirimat), also known as ST-246®, will not coemee until after delivery of 500,0@®urses. Management currently expects achieve
of this threshold and the resulting receipt of feifibm BARDA to occur during 2013. If 500,0@@urses are not delivered or if paymeni
delivery is not received in 2013, then the Compaillyexperience a significant reduction in our foasted capital resources and cash flow:
consequently will need to seek additional capitdources. Such resources may include procurementacts, collaborative agreeme
strategic alliances, research grants, and futunéyegnd debt financing. There is no assurancettf@Company will be successful in obtair
additional funding, or whether any funding fromheit an equity or debt financing would be availatecommercially reasonable terms, i
all. If the Company is unable to raise additiorapital, future operations might need to be scabaklor discontinued. The financial statem
do not include any adjustments relating to the vecability of the carrying amount of recorded assatd liabilities that might result from -
outcome of these uncertainties.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to pear smounts to conform to 2012 presentation.

Use of Estimates

The consolidated financial statements and relaisclasures are prepared in conformity with accowgiprinciples generally accepted in
United States of America. Management is requireshéie estimates and assumptions that affect th@tezpamounts of assets and liabilit
the disclosure of contingent assets and liabildéiethe date of the financial statements and rewama expenses during the period reported
most significant estimates include the variablesdum the calculation of fair value of stobksed awards including options and warn
granted or issued by the Company; reported amaimtssenue and expenses; impairment of goodwilt e realization of deferred tax ass
Estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodiealtiyithe effects of revisions are reflected infthancial statements in the period they
determined to be necessary. Actual results codldrdiom these estimates.

Cash Equivalents, Short-term Investments and Markiele Securities

The Company considers all highly liquid investmewith original maturities of three months or lesskte cash equivalents. Highly ligs
investments with maturities greater than three mom@ind less than one year are classified as t@rontinvestments. Such investments
generally money market funds, bank certificatedegfosit, and U.S. Treasury bills.

The Company classifies short-term investments armdketable securities with readily determinable faaues as “available-for-sale.”

Investments in securities that are classified aslave-forsale are measured at fair market value in the balaheet and unrealized holc
gains and losses on investments are reportedegsagate component of stockholders’ equity untilized.
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Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company has cash in bank accounts that exdeed-éderal Deposit Insurance Corporation insuredtdi The Company has 1
experienced any losses on its cash accounts amdlaveance has been provided for potential credisés because management believe:
any such losses would be minimal, if any.

Accounts Receivabl

Accounts receivable are recorded net of provisifmmsdoubtful accounts. At December 31, 2012 and12aD0%of accounts receivabl
represented receivables from National InstitutesHeélth (“NIH”) and BARDA. An allowance for doubtful accounts isséd on specif
analysis of the receivables. At December 31, 2012911, the Company had no allowance for doubitabunts.

Inventory

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost onested realizable value. The Company capitalizesritory costs associated with the Company
products when, based on managensejttigment, future commercialization is considgrezbable and the future economic benefit is expul
to be realized; otherwise, such costs are expeasedsearch and development. Inventory is evaldateitnpairment periodically to identi
inventory that may expire prior to expected salehas a cost basis in excess of its estimated adddizvalue. If certain batches or unit:
product no longer meet quality specifications ocdmee obsolete due to expiration, the Company recarccharge to write down st
unmarketable inventory to its estimated realizailee.

Property, Plant and Equipmer

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cestpfhaccumulated depreciation. Depreciation is/ioled on a straighline method over tf
estimated useful lives of the various asset clasBes estimated useful lives are as follows: 5 gdar laboratory equipment; 3 yedis
computer equipment; and 7 ye#éos furniture and fixtures. Leasehold improvemesnts amortized over the shorter of the estimatetllibees
of the assets or the lease term. Maintenance,rsepiad minor replacements are charged to experiselased.

Revenue Recognitio
Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence afrangement exists, delivery has occurred, thasféixed or determinable, collectabi
is reasonably assured, title and risk of loss Hmeen transferred to the customer and there arertieef contractual obligations.

Certain arrangements may provide for multiple detables, in which there may be a combination offrapt licenses; research, developm
regulatory or other services; and delivery of prdiultiple deliverable arrangements can be digidtdo separate units of accounting if
deliverables in the arrangement meet the follovanitgria: (i) the delivered item(s) have value he tustomer on a standalone basis and
circumstances in which an arrangement includesnargé right of return with respect to deliveredritg then performance of the remair
deliverables must be considered probable and suizta in control of the Company. If multiple deérables cannot be divided into sepe
units of accounting then the deliverables mustdyelined into a single unit of accounting.

Total consideration in a multiple deliverable agament is allocated to units of accounting on atined fair value of selling price bas
Consideration allocated to a delivered item or oh#ccounting is limited to the amount that is contingent upon delivery of additional iter

Subject to the above, payments for developmenvitie are recognized as revenue as earned, oeepéhiod of effort. Funding for t
acquisition of capital assets under cost-glescontracts or grants is evaluated for approprietognition as a reduction to the cost of thet:
a financing arrangement, or revenue based on #mfgpterms of the related grant or contract.

For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, ah@, 26venues from NIH and BARDA were 100% , 96% e, respectively, of tot
revenues recognized by the Company.

Research and Developme

Research and development expenses include cosstlgliattributable to the conduct of research aegletbpment programs, includi
employee related costs, materials, supplies, diggi@e on and maintenance of research equipmeatcdist of services provided by outs
contractors, including services related to the Camyfs clinical trials and facility costs, such as rarttlities, and general support services.
costs associated with research and developmenexensed as incurred. Costs related to the adquisif technology rights, for whi
development work is still in process, and that haealternative future uses, are expensed as eaurr
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Goodwill

The Company evaluates goodwill for impairment atsteannually or as circumstances warrant. The imygit review process compares
fair value of the reporting unit in which goodwiltsides to its carrying value. The Company operasesne business and one reporting
Therefore, the goodwill impairment analysis is paried on the basis of the Company as a whole, usiagnarket capitalization of t
Company as an estimate of its fair value.

Share-based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense for all shased payment awards made to employees and dgdstdetermined on the grant date;
options awards, fair value is estimated using tleelBScholes model and for stock appreciation sgMSARS”), fair value is estimated usiny
Monte Carlo method. The value of the portion of éiveard that is ultimately expected to vest is rdedras expense over the requisite se
periods in the Company’s consolidated statemenpefations.

These compensation costs are recognized net oftamaged forfeiture rate over the requisite senpegiods of the awards. Forfeitures
estimated on the date of the respective grantevidad if actual or expected forfeiture activityfelis from original estimates.

Income Taxes

The Company recognizes income taxes utilizing theetaand liability method of accounting for incotages. Under this method, defer
income taxes are recorded for temporary differefieaeen financial statement carrying amounts aeddx basis of assets and liabilitie
enacted tax rates expected to be in effect foy#aes in which the differences are expected torseveA valuation allowance is established
is more likely than not that some or the entireedefd tax asset will not be realized. The recognitf a valuation allowance for deferred te
requires management to make estimates and judgmakeots the Company’s future profitability which améerently uncertain.

The Company applies the applicable authoritatividajice which prescribes a comprehensive modeh®ntanner in which a company shc
recognize, measure, present and disclose in ésdial statements all material uncertain tax pms#ithat the Company has taken or expe:
take on a tax return. The Company has no tax pasitior which it is reasonably possible that thaltamounts of unrecognized tax ben:
will significantly increase or decrease within tweimonths from December 31, 2012. The Company fildsral income tax returns and incc
tax returns in various state and local tax jurigdits. The open tax years for U.S. federal, statblacal tax returns is generally 2002012
open tax years relating to unused net operating dasryforwards (“NOLs"pegin in 1998. In the event that the Company cateduhat it i
subject to interest and/or penalties arising frameeutain tax positions, the Company will preseréri@st and penalties as a compone
income taxes. No amounts of interest or penaltiesewecognized in the Compasyconsolidated financial statements for each ofy#aas il
the three-year period ended December 31, 2012.

Net Loss per Shar

The objective of basic earning per share (“ERS'tp measure the performance of an entity overdperting period by dividing income (lo
by the weighted average shares outstanding. Theciblg of diluted EPS is consistent with that o§ibé&EPS, except that it also gives effe
all potentially dilutive common shares outstandituging the period.

The following is a reconciliation of the basic aditited net income (loss) per share computation:

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010

Net (loss) income for basic EPS $ (14,528,15) $ 13,594,17 $ (28,195,33)

Change in fair value of warrants — 8,930,90! —
Net loss (income), adjusted for change in fair gadfiwarrants for diluted EPS $ (14,528,15) $ 4,663,270 $ (28,195,33)
Weighted-average shares: basic 51,639,62 50,929,49 45,151,77

Effect of potential common shares — 3,132,15! —
Weighted-average shares: diluted 51,639,62 54,061,65 45,151,77
Earnings (loss) per share: basic $ (0.28) $ 027 $ (0.62)
Earnings (loss) per share: diluted $ (0.28) $ 0.0¢ $ (0.62)

Anti-dilutive employee share-based awards, excluded — 504,66¢ —
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The diluted earnings per share calculation refldutseffect of the assumed exercise of outstandigants and any corresponding elimina
of the benefit included in operating results frdra thange in fair value of the warrants. Dilutedreh outstanding include the dilutive effec
in-thesmoney options and warrants, unvested restricteckstad restricted stock units. The dilutive effettsuch equity awards is calcula
based on the average share price for each fiscaddpasing the treasury stock method. Under thastiey stock method, the amount
employee must pay for exercising stock options, @herage amount of compensation cost for futureiceithat the Company has not
recognized, and the amount of tax benefits thatldvdne recorded in additional paid-capital when the award becomes deductible
collectively assumed to be used to repurchase share

The Company incurred losses for the years ende@rbleer 31, 2012 and 2010 whereas for the year ebdedmber 31, 2011, the Comp
had net income. For all periods presented, cedqinty instruments are excluded from the calcutatibdiluted earnings (loss) per share a:
effect of such shares is anti-dilutive. The weighawerage number of equity instruments excludedisbnf:

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Stock Options 2,865,86. 504,66¢ 4,649,36.
Stock-Settled Stock Appreciation Rights 421,02( — —
Restricted Stock Units 351,01: — —
Warrants 2,263,53! — 8,052,93:

As discussed in Note 5, the appreciation of eachRS®as capped at a determined maximum value. Asalt; the weighted average nurr
shown in the table above for stoskttled stock appreciation rights reflects the Wwidg average maximum number of shares that cot
issued.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalentsyuatts payable and accrued expenses approximatesafae due to the relatively sh
maturity of these instruments. Common stock wasramttich are classified as liabilities are recor@édheir fair market value as of ei
reporting period.

The measurement of fair value requires the usedfrtiques based on observable and unobservablts.ifPhoservable inputs reflect mai
data obtained from independent sources, while wrehble inputs reflect our market assumptions. ifipats create the following fair val
hierarchy:

» Level 1 —-Quoted prices for identical instruments in activarkets

» Level 2 — Quoted prices for similar instrumeintactive markets; quoted prices for identicaliamigr instruments in markets that are
not active; and model-derived valuations where isuwe observable or where significant value ds\ae observable.

» Level 3 -nstruments where significant value drivers arehssovable to third partie

The Company uses modaérived valuations where inputs are observablefiveamarkets to determine the fair value of car@mmon stoc
warrants on a recurring basis and classify sucliamts in Level 2. The Company utilizes the Bl&dholes model consisting of the follow
variables: (i) the closing price of SIG&\'common stock; (ii) the expected remaining lifetted warrant; (iii) the expected volatility usin
weighted-average of historical volatilities fromcambination of SIGA and comparable companies; andtfe riskfree market rate. ;
December 31, 2012, the fair value of $287,088 classified as current common stock warranthemalance sheet. At December 31, 2011
fair value of $622,938 was classified as non-curecemmon stock warrants on the balance sheet.

For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 20113 &iGnot hold any Level 3 securities.

As of December 31, 2012, the Company had $5.0anilliutstanding from a loan entered into on DecerBheP012 (refer to Note 7 for
details). The fair value of the loan approximatest@t December 31, 2012.
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Segment Informatior

The Company is managed and operated as one busiiesgntire business is managed by a single mamageteam that reports to the cl
executive officer. The Company does not operatarsép lines of business or separate businessesntitith respect to any of its prod
candidates. Accordingly, the Company does not peegiscrete financial information with respect &parate product areas or by location
only has one reportable segment.

Recent Accounting Pronouncemen

In September 2011, the Financial Accounting Stashl&oard (the “FASB”)ssued updated accounting guidance, which amendiedmre o
how to test goodwill for impairment. This updatemés an entity to first assess qualitative factorsletermine whether it is more likely tt
not that the fair value of a reporting unit is Iéisan its carrying amount as a basis for deterrgimihether it is necessary to perform a tstef
goodwill impairment test. The updated guidanceffiscéive for annual impairment tests performedistél years beginning after Decembet
2011 with early adoption permitted. SIGA adopted tipdate for the year ended December 31, 2012lendpdate did not have a mate
impact on the Company’s consolidated financialestegnts.

In May 2011, the FASB issued additional guidancdainvalue measurements that clarifies the appticaof existing guidance and disclos
requirements, changes certain fair value measurepneriples and requires additional disclosuresulfair value measurements. The upd
guidance is effective during interim and annualigeebeginning after December 15, 2011. SIGA adoyitesl update for the year enc
December 31, 2012 and the update did not have eri@datmpact on the Company’s consolidated finanstatements.

In May 2011, the FASB issued guidance that charthedrequirement for presenting Comprehensive Incomehe consolidated financ
statements. The update requires an entity to présercomponents of other comprehensive incomeeitha single continuous statemer
comprehensive income or in two separate but cotisecstatements. The update is effective for fisers, and interim periods within th
years, beginning after December 15, 2011 and shmilgpplied retrospectively. SIGA adopted this gendance on January 1, 20:

3. Procurement Contract and Research Agreements
Procurement Contrac

In May 2011, the Company signed a contract with B#R(the “BARDA Contract”) pursuant to which SIGA agpd to delivetwo million
courses of Arestvyr to the U.S. Strategic Natiodbtckpile (the “Strategic Stockpile”). The base tcact, worth approximately $463 million
includes $54 million related to development andpsuiive activities and contains various optiondbé&exercised at BARDA' discretion. Th
period of performance for development and supperstivities runs until 2020. As originally issu¢kle BARDA Contract included an opti
for the purchase of up to 12 millicadditional courses of Arestvyr; however, followiagprotest by a competitor of the Company, BAF
issued a contract modification on June 24, 201%yamnt to which it deleted the option to purchaseatiditional courses. Under the BAR
Contract as modified, BARDA has agreed to buy fi8i®A 1.7 million courses of Arestvyr. Additionally, SIGA will coninite to BARD/
300,000 courses manufactured primarily using fdderads provided by the U.S. Department of Healtld &#luman Services (*HHS)inde
prior development contracts. The BARDA Contractraxdified also contains options that will permit 1@ continue its work on pediat
and geriatric versions of the drug as well as ussstyyr for smallpox prophylaxis. As described int&l 13, the amount of profits SIGA v
retain pursuant to the BARDA Contract is subjectit® judgment entered by the Delaware Court of Caignin PharmAthene’action again
SIGA and the outcome of the pending appeal andseappeal.

In the fourth quarter of 2011, SIGA received apprately $41 millionin advance payments under the BARDA Contract. Itoer 2012
SIGA received FDA concurrence with respect to itsdpict labeling strategy in accordance with the BXRContract and during the fou
quarter of 2012, it received a milestone paymerpgpiroximately $12.3 million .

The BARDA Contract is a multiple deliverable arrantent comprising delivery of courses and coverséarh and development activit
The BARDA Contract provides certain product reptaeet rights with respect to delivered courses.tRigrreason, recognition of revenue
might otherwise occur upon delivery of coursesxigeeted to be deferred until the Compangbligations related to potential replacemel
delivered courses are satisfied. Furthermore, payrue delivered courses and reimbursement of ansothe Company spends on cove
research services are not contractually due to cemsm until after the Company has delivered thd 860,000courses. Accordingly ti
Company has deferred revenue for all amounts redeig date. Once the Company has delivered the508,000courses, the Compa
expects to recognize revenue with respect to BARDZligation to reimburse the cost of covered neseand development services perfor
prior to this point.
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In addition, direct costs incurred by the Compaayfulfill the requirements under the BARDA Contraate being deferred and will
recognized as expenses over the same period thegltited deferred revenue is recognized as revésuef December 31, 2012 and Decen
31, 2011, deferred direct costs under the BARDA t€za of approximately $2.8 million and $250,00@&spectively, are included in defer
costs on the consolidated balance sheets. As ofrbleer 31, 2012, the Company recorded $3.8 mibimmeceivables from long term cont
and deferred revenue, respectively, for servicesiged under the BARDA Contract.

Research Agreemen

The Company obtains funding from the contracts graahts it obtains from various agencies of the G8vernment to support its research
development activities. Currently, the Company ¢ contract and twgrants with varying expiration dates through JUl @ that provide fc
potential future aggregate research and developfoading for specific projects of approximately $19nillion . This amount includes, amc
other things, options that may or may not be esertiat the U.S. governmesntliscretion. Moreover, the contract and grantganrcustomar
terms and conditions including the U.S. Governneeright to terminate or restructure a grant forveamence at any time.

4. Stockholders’ Equity

On December 31, 2012, the Company’s authorizedestegital consisted of 110,000,000 shares, of whith000,00G@re designated comm
shares and 10,000,000 are designated preferredssiidre Compang’'Board of Directors is authorized to issue pref@ishares in series w
rights, privileges and qualifications of each sedetermined by the Board.

2008 Financing

On June 19, 2008, SIGA entered into a letter agea¢ifas amended, the “Letter Agreemetitgt expired on June 19, 2010, with MacAndr
& Forbes LLC (“M&F"), a related party, for M&F’s goamitment to invest, at SIGA’s discretion or at M&Foption, up to $8 millionn
exchange for (i) SIGA common stock and (ii) warsatd purchase 40%f the number of SIGA shares acquired by M&F. Imsideration fc
the commitment of M&F reflected in the Letter Agneent, on June 19, 2008, M&F received warrants techmse 238,008hares of SIG.
common stock, initially exercisable at $3.06 (ti@ofmmitment Warrants”)The Commitment Warrants were exercisable until JLéye2012
On June 19, 2012, the Commitment Warrants were deteto extend expiration to June 19, 2014. The fivadion of the warrants resulted
an expense of $257,000 recorded immediately updifioation.

In 2009, SIGA issued to M&F 816,993 shares of comrsimck and 326,79arrants to acquire common stock in exchange fial fwoceed
of $2.5 million . The warrants are exercisabledderm of four years from issuance for an exengigee of $3.519 per share.

On June 18, 2010, M&F notified SIGA of its intentito exercise its right to invest $5.5 milligrihe remaining amount available under
Letter Agreement following earlier investments adered into a Deferred Closing and Registratioghi2i Agreement dated as of June
2010 with the Company. On July 26, 2010, upon fsation of certain customary closing conditionglimling the expiration of the applica
waiting period pursuant to the Hart-Scott-Rodindifkust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, M&Rded the $5.5 milliopurchase pric
to SIGA in exchange for the issuance of (i) 1,788,38hares of common stock and (ii) warrants to lmase 718,954hares of SIGA commu
stock at an exercise price of $3.519 per share.

The number of shares issuable pursuant to the miargganted under the Letter Agreement, as welagxercise price of those warrants,
be subject to adjustment as a result of the effefiiture equity issuances on certain anti-dilugwavisions in the related warrant agreements.

2006 and 2005 Placements

In 2006 and 2005 the Company sold shares of itswoamstock and warrants to purchase shares of corstock. In 2006, the Company iss
1,000,000 warrants with an initial exercise pri€&4.99 per share (the “2006 Warrants”). In 200&, Company issued 1,000,08@rrants witl
an initial exercise price of $1.18 per share (tb@05 Warrants”)As of December 31, 2010, all of the 2005 Warramtgehbeen exercised &
issued. The 2006 Warrants may be exercised thraaghincluding October 19, 2013. Due to the effdctartain antidilution provisions ii
such warrants, the Company adjusted the numbehaks issuable under the 2006 Warrants by 337am@tgh December 31, 2012. T
exercise prices of the warrants issued in theseepiants were also adjusted. At December 31, 20125880f the 2006 Warrants at
exercise price of $2.9®ere outstanding. The number of shares issuabkipat to the Warrants may be subject to furtharsijent as a res
of the effect of future equity issuances on arltittin provisions in the related warrant agreements

The Company accounted for the 2006 and 2005 Warranaiccordance with the authoritative guidancectvhiequires that frestanding
derivative financial instruments that require rasit settlement be classified as assets or ligsilit the time of the
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transaction, and recorded at their fair value. Bhgnges in the fair value of the derivative instents are reported in earnings or loss as lo
the derivative contracts are classified as asseiahilities. At December 31, 2012, the fair markalue of the 2006 Warrants was $287,036
The Company applied the Bla&choles model to calculate the fair values of gspective derivative instruments using the contedderm o
the warrants. Management estimates the expectedilitplusing a combination of the Compasyhistorical volatility and the volatility of
group of comparable companies. For the year endsmgiber 31, 2012, the Company recorded a gairB86§02as a result of a net decre

in fair value in the 2006 Warrants.

5. Stock Compensation Plans

The Company’s 2010 Stock Incentive Plan (the “26814n") was initially adopted in May 2010. The 2010 Planvled for the issuance
stock options, restricted stock and unrestrictedksivith respect to an aggregate of 2,000,000 shaféhe Compang Common Stock
employees, consultants and outside directors oCtiapany. On May 17, 2011, the 2010 Plan was antetal@rovide for the issuance
restricted stock units (“RSUsgnd on February 2, 2012, the 2010 Plan was ametodeabvide for the issuance of SARs. Effective AR5,
2012, the 2010 Plan was amended to increase thenmaxnumber of shares of Common Stock availableidsuance to an aggregate
4,500,000shares. During the year ended December 31, 20é2Ctmpany granted RSUs and SARs under the 2010ifPkahdition to stoc
options. The vesting period for awards granted urttie 2010 Plan, except those granted to outsidectdirs, is determined by f
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directotse Tompensation Committee also determines the aiqirdate of each equity awe
however, stock options and SARs may not be exdigsaore than ten years after the date of granth@snaximum term of equity awa
issued under the 2010 Plan is ten years.

For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 an@, 24 Company recorded stobised compensation expense, including stock of
SARs and RSUs, of approximately $1.8 million , &lillion and $1.5 million , respectively.

Stock Options
Stock option awards provide holders the right techase shares of Common Stock at prices deterntipelle Compensation Committee
must have an exercise price equal to or in excebedair market value of the Company’s commorcktat the date of grant.

The fair value of option grants were estimatechatdate of grant during the years ended Decemhe2®P, 2011, and 2010 based upor
following range of assumptions:

2012 2011 2010
Expected volatility 7% 76% 80%
Expected dividend yield —% —% —%
Risk-free interest rate 0.98% -1.24% 1.9%% 2.16%
Expected life 6 year 6 year 5 year

Expected volatility has been estimated using a d¢oation of the Companyg’ historical volatility and the historical volatili of a group ¢
comparable companies, both using historical peraafgvalent to the optiongxpected lives. The expected dividend yield assiamp$ base
on the Company’s intent not to issue a dividenthaforeseeable future. The rifke interest rate assumption is based upon ols$émteres
rates for securities with maturities approximatihg options’expected lives. The expected life was estimateddas historical experience ¢
expectation of employee exercise behavior in theréugiving consideration to the contractual teohthe award.
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A summary of the Company’s stock option activityssfollows:

Weighted Weighted
Average Average Aggregate
Number of Exercise Remaining Life Intrinsic Value
Options Price (in years) (in thousands)
Outstanding at January 1, 2012 2,799,79: $ 4.3¢
Granted 157,35( 2.67
Exercised (4,169 1.8¢
Canceled/Expired (50,267 5.9t
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 2,902,700 $ 4.2¢ 535 $ 917,28:
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2012 2,867,11 $ 4.2¢ 535 $ 912,44
Exercisable at December 31, 2012 2,084,120 § 4.4¢ 483 $ 805,91

As of December 31, 2012 , $734,000 of total renmgninrecognized stodkased compensation cost related to stock optioaggscted to t
recognized over the weighted-average remainingiséguservice period of 0.97 years. The total falue of vested stock options w$8.7
million , $2.5 million and $1.5 million for the yemended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, regplycti

The total intrinsic value of stock options exerdiseas $3,000 , $315,000 and $19.6 millfon the years ended December 31, 2012, 201
2010, respectively. The intrinsic value represéimésamount by which the market price of the undegystock exceeds the exercise price ¢
option.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, 500,000 of thengamys outstanding options, respectively, were subjecspecific performant
conditions consisting of minimum cash receipts shodds and regulatory approval of our lead drugdichate. As of December 31, 2012,
performance conditions have not been achieved,tttase options are not exercisable at Decembet(@P.

Stock Appreciation Right

Stock-settled stock appreciation rights (“SSARgsfpvide holders the right to purchase shares of @omStock at prices determined by
Compensation Committee and must have an exerdise @qual to or in excess of the fair market valtithe Companys common stock at t
date of grant. Upon exercise, the gain, or intdnsilue, is settled by the delivery of SIGA stockhie employee.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Coyngeanted 1.4 million shares of SSARs at a weiglaieerage grantate fair value ¢
$0.68per share. The exercise price of a SSAR is equélet@losing market price on the date of grant. Gteted SSARs vest in equal ani
installments over a period of three years and expir later than seven yedrem the date of grant. Moreover, the appreciatbeach SSAI
was capped at a determined maximum value. At Deeei®b, 2012, due to the cap on value the maximumbeu of shares that could
issued in the future is 453,465 .

The fair value of granted SSARs has been estimatiéiding a Monte Carlo method. The Monte Carlo heet is a statistical simulati
technique used to provide the gralatte fair value of an award. As the issued SSARs wapped at maximum values, such attribute
considered in the simulation. The following tabtegents the weighted-average assumptions utiliz#tki valuations:

Expected volatility 71%
Expected life from grant date 4.5 year

Expected dividend yield —%
Risk-free interest rate 0.61%

The Company calculates the expected volatility gigircombination of SIGA historical volatility and the volatility of a gup of comparab
companies. The expected life from grant date wésmated based on the expectation of exercise behaviconsideration of the maximi
value and contractual term of the SSARs. The diddgield assumption is based on the Compangtent not to issue a dividend in
foreseeable future. The risk-free interest rateragsion is based upon observed interest rates ppate for the expected life of the SSARs.

51




Table of Contents

A summary of the Company’s SSAR activity is asdois:

Weighted Weighted
Average Average Aggregate
Number of Exercise Remaining Life  Intrinsic Value
SARs Price (in years) (in thousands)
Outstanding at January 1, 2012 — % —
Granted 1,446,80; 3.5¢
Exercised — -
Canceled/Expired (25,85) 3.5¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 1,420,995 $ 3.5¢ 6.09 $ —
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2012 1,359,16° $ 3.52 6.09 $ —
Exercisable at December 31, 2012 — — 0% —

As of December 31, 2012 , $666,000 of total renmgninrecognized stodkased compensation cost related to SSARs is expectde
recognized over the weighted-average remainingisgquservice period of 2.09 years.

Restricted Stock Awards/Restricted Stock Ut
RSUs awarded to employees vest in equal annuallliments over a thregear period and RSUs awarded to directors of thafgamy vest ovt
a one-year period. A summary of the Company’s R&wity is as follows:

Weighted

Average

Number of Grant-Date

Shares Fair Value
Outstanding at January 1, 2012 — $ —
Granted 460,00( 2.8z
Vested — —
Canceled/Expired — —
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 460,000 $ 2.82

As of December 31, 2012 , $812,000 of total renmgininrecognized stodkased compensation cost related to RSUs is expectdd
recognized over the weighted-average remainingiséquservice period of 1.5¢ars. The total fair value of restricted stock esstricted stoc
units vested during the years ended December 32,2011 and 2010 was $0 , $10.0 million and $0 .

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Compeanted 700,000 shares of restricted stock astlicted stock units at a weighted-
average grant-date fair value of $14.26 . Thereewergrants of restricted stock or restricted stauks in previous years.

Warrants
A summary of the Company’s warrant activity is akofws:

Number of Weighted Average

Warrants Exercise Price
Outstanding at January 1, 2012 2,311,85. $ 2.1¢€
Granted — —
Exercised (1,000 1.6¢
Canceled / Expired (56,95() 1.6¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 2,253,90. § 3.3C

Warrants represent the right to purchase shar€swimon Stock at contractual exercise prices. A3eafember 31, 2012, all outstanding
warrants are exercisable.
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6. Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income includes net loss adjustedhochange in net unrealized gain (loss) on seont- investments. For the years er
December 31, 2012 and 2011, the components of ampsive income were:

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011
Net income (loss) $ (14,528,15) $  13,594,17
Unrealized (loss) gain on securities — (4,067
Total comprehensive income (loss) $ (24,528,15) $  13,590,10

7. Debt

In December 2012, the Company entered into a lga@eanent (“Loan Agreement”) with General Electrigpfal Corporation (“GE Capita)l”
to provide the Company a term loan of $5.0 millieith a fixed interest rate of 9.85% per annum anéwalving line of credit of $million

with a variable interest rate. Borrowings under t&eolving line of credit are based on eligible stahding accounts receivable and will |

interest at a rate per annum equal to 5.25% plkdidgpher of: (a) 1.50% , and (b) thremnth LIBOR divided by a defined factor. The terf

the loan is three years.

As of December 31, 2012, the full term loan amafri5.0million was outstanding. Under the Loan Agreemérg, Company may draw do
from the revolving line of credit up to 858 qualified eligible accounts receivable as démdiin the Loan Agreement. As of Decembe!
2012, no amounts were available to borrow agalestévolving line of credit as there were no eligiiccounts receivable.

Under the Loan Agreement, the Company is requioethdake monthly payments of interest from Februd@y3through June 2013. The t¢
loan requires monthly payments of $167,@®@rincipal plus accrued interest beginning ory yl2013. Payments of principal on the term
may be delayed until October 1, 2013 upon meetantam conditions.

The loan is collateralized by substantially alltoé Companys assets other than Arestvyr or any intellectuaperty related to Arestvyr. T
Loan Agreement contains affirmative and negatiweoants including certain customary financial cargs. The Company was in complia
with all financial debt covenants as of December2g12.

In connection with securing the Loan Agreement, @mmpany incurred approximately $386,0000debt issue costs which are recorde
deferred costs and allocated between other cuassdts and other assets. Furthermore, the Compangrad $90,00@f costs which wel
accounted for as a debt discount and thus, arededas a direct reduction of the face amount efdbbt. The debt issue costs and
discount will be amortized to interest expense dlerterm of the Loan Agreement.

The aggregate amount of required principal paymaniBecember 31, 2012 is expected to be as follows:

2013 1,000,001
2014 2,000,001
2015 2,000,001

Total $5,000,00(

53




Table of Contents
8. Related Party Transactions

On December 1, 2009, the Company entered into diteOServices Agreement with an affiliate of M&F ticcupy office space f
approximately $8,00@er month. In June 2011, the Office Services Ager@mvas amended due to expanded use of space I§othpany
This amendment increased the Company’s monthly payrio $11,00@per month. An amendment in February 2012 incredsednonthl
payment to $12,000 to appropriately reflect expdnaie of space. The Office Services Agreementrisalable upon 60 daymtice by SIG/
or the affiliate.

In October 2012, the Company funded a letter afliciend deposit to take advantage of a lease fareo§pace secured by an affiliate of M
from a third party landlord on behalf of the CompaRursuant to such letter of credit, in January®the Company entered into a sublea
which the Company will pay all costs associatedlie lease, including rent. All payments madehgy@ompany pursuant to the sublease
either be directly or indirectly made to the thpdrty landlord and not retained by M&F or any &ifié. The new sublease is expected to re
the current Office Services Agreement that is deedrin the previous paragraph, and occupancypseerd to commence once certain buil
improvements are completed by the landlord in e2€l§3. Upon commencement, the sublease allows fogearent period of fivenonths
subsequent to the free rent period, monthly repineamts are scheduled to be $60,000 for the fivet fiears and $63,000 for the next tyears
Rent payments under the lease and sublease asestthfustomary rent escalation clauses.

A member of the Company’s Board of Directors is entber of the Company’outside counsel. During the years ended DeceBihe?012
2011 and 2010, the Company incurred costs of $2libm, $3.1 million and $2.7illion, respectively, related to services providsd the
outside counsel. On December 31, 2012, the Companystanding payables included $563,000 payalileetoutside counsel.

9. Inventory

As of December 31, 2012, the Company has $17.6omitf work-in-process inventory. The value of suciprocess inventory represents
costs incurred to manufacture Arestvyr under th&RBA Contract. Certain of the existing units of Argg were initially manufactured prior
the point at which future commercialization waslable; thus, such cost was expensed as researaeaaldpment in those respective peri
Additional costs incurred to complete productioncolurses of Arestvyr will be recorded as inventdry2012, research and developn
expense included inventory write-downs of $0.5 il

10. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consisted of the¥adhg at December 31, 2012 and 2011:

2012 2011
Laboratory equipment $ 2,305,411 $ 2,578,66.
Leasehold improvements 2,817,12. 3,187,41
Computer equipment 458,42: 375,19!
Furniture and fixtures 345,28 332,42
5,926,24. 6,473,69!
Less - accumulated depreciation (4,938,37) (5,654,70)
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 987,86¢ $ 818,99:
11. Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities isted of the following at December 31, 2012 and1201
2012 2011
Loss contingency $ 2,491,98 $ 2,050,00!
Bonus 250,00( 1,067,001
Professional fees 579,60¢ 339,20(
Vacation 328,46: 222,70¢
Other 633,79t 965,55!
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 4,283,84' $ 4,644,46
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12. Income Taxes

At December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company’s dedaax assets and liabilities are comprised ofdhHewing:

2012 2011
Deferred income tax assets:
Net operating losses $ 36,764,900 $ 32,109,37
Deferred research and development costs 2,950,55! 3,674,46!
Amortization of intangible assets 1,572,28 1,814,27
Share-based compensation 1,768,99 1,417,09:
Depreciation 709,18: 777,95
Deferred revenue 4,403,26! —
Other 1,104,61. 896,25:
Deferred income tax assets 49,273,78 40,689,41
Less: valuation allowance (4,328,23) (4,629,23)
Deferred income tax assets, net of valuation alfmea $ 4494555 % 36,060,17
Deferred income tax liabilities:
Amortization of goodwill (203,68 (183,377
Capitalized contract costs (1,017,26) —
Deferred income tax assets (liabilities), net $ 43,724,60 ¢ 35,876,80

As of December 31, 2012, the Company generateddkedet operating loss carryforwards of $103.8 imillto offset future taxable income

which $0.7 million were attributable to excess theductions on stock option activity that will balieed as a benefit to Additional Paru-
Capital when they reduce income taxes payableOLr2 2nd 2011, previously available NOLs of appratiely $1.2 million and $0.9 million
respectively, expired. The remaining NOLs expirevarious years between 2018 and 2031. As a re$udt cumulative change in stc

ownership occurring in a prior year, the annudiaation of the net operating loss carryforwards years prior to 2004 may be subjec

limitation.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, the Companyred net losses for tax purposes and conseguestbgnized an income tax benefi
$7.8 million . For the year ended December 31, 204 benefit from income taxes of $36.0 milliorainly reflects net losses as well ¢
partial reduction of its valuation allowance asign#icant portion of the Company’s deferred tasets became realizable onmadre likely
than not” basis primarily as a result of the exirubf the BARDA Contract and forecasts of pa@-earnings. Prior to June 30, 2011,
Company provided a tax valuation allowance on onitédl States federal and state deferred tax akastxd on the Comparsyevaluation thi
such assets were not “more likely than not” todsdized.

The recognition of a valuation allowance for deddrtaxes requires management to make estimatgsdgmients about the Compasyfuture
profitability which are inherently uncertain. Defed tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowahes, in the opinion of management,
more likely than not that some portion or all of tiheferred tax assets will not be realized. Ifaheent estimates of future taxable income
reduced or not realized, for example, based orpaslkte ruling in the PharmAthene litigation désed in Note 13, the Comparsyassessme
regarding the realization of deferred tax assetddcohange. Future changes in the estimated anmuutgferred taxes expected to be real
will be reflected in the Comparg/financial statements in the period the estimatehianged with a corresponding adjustment to opg
results. Changes in estimates may occur often anchave a significant favorable or unfavorable iotgm the Compang’ operating resul
from period to period.
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The Company’s effective tax rate differs from th&lUFederal Statutory income tax rate of 35% devial:

2012 2011 2010

Statutory federal income tax rate (35.0% (35.0% (34.0%
State tax benefit (1.9% 0.1% (0.1)%
Loss from fair value of common warrants (0.5)% (13.9% 19.4%
Share-based compensation 0.€% 7.7% — %
Other 0.E% 0.4% 1.8%
Valuation allowance on deferred tax assets 0.E% (119.60% 13.4%

Effective tax rate (35.)% (160.9% 0.E%

For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 201 Cdhmanys effective tax rate differs from the federal staty rate principally due to tl
partial reversal of its valuation allowance, neegting losses and other differences for which eoefit was recorded, state taxes and «
permanent differences. For all years presented;utrent year provision was not material.

Other Income, net, for the year ended Decembe2@10, includes $648,000 awarded to the CompanyruhéeU.S. governmerg’Qualifiec
Discovery Tax Credit program.

13. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating lease commitments

The Company leases its Corvallis, Oregon, facdliied office space under an operating lease, rmoshtly amended in November 2012, w!|
expires in 2017 and includes a renewal option foegtension of five yearsThis lease contains annual escalation clausesyva provision
and generally requires us to pay utilities, insagrtaxes and other operating expenses. Rentahsspecluding charges for maintena

utilities, real estate taxes and other operatimueases, totaled $1.0 million , $827,000 and $73¥f60the years ended December 31, 2
2011 and 2010, respectively.

Future minimum rental commitments under non-carfdelaperating leases as of December 31, 2012 aectsd to be as follows:

2013 $ 866,09t
2014 881,83:
2015 901,50(
2016 921,16t
2017 940,83!

Total $ 4,511,43

In January 2013, we entered into a sublease withffdiate of M&F which is expected to commencetlre first half of 2013 and to expire
2020; rent payments under the sublease are nodiedlin the above schedule. Refer to Note 8 fah&urdescription.

Other

In December 2006, PharmAthene, Inc. (“PharmAthefildl an action against SIGA in the Delaware Cafir€hancery (the “Court” orCourt
of Chancery”) captione®harmAthene, Inc. v. SGA Technologies, Inc. , C.A. No. 2627N. In its amended complaint, PharmAthene aske
Court to order the Company to enter into a liceageeement with PharmAthene with respect to28%; now also known as Arestvyr, to dec
that the Company is obliged to execute such adieagreement, and to award damages resulting fref@dmpanys supposed breach of t
obligation. PharmAthene also alleged that the Campgmeached an obligation to negotiate such a dieeagreement in good faith, and so
damages for promissory estoppel and unjust enriohinased on supposed information, capital, ancstassie that PharmAthene allege
provided to the Company during the negotiation pssc The Court tried the case in January 2011.

In September 2011, the Court issued its post-tgpahion. The Court denied PharmAthesmeéquests for specific performance and expec!
damages measured by the present value of estirhated profits. Nevertheless, the Court held that Company breached its duty to nego
in good faith and was liable under the doctrinepadmissory estoppel. The Court consequently awatdeBharmAthene what the Cc
described as an equitable payment stream or etpiiiab consisting of fifty percerdf the net profits that the Company achieves frateso
ST-246 after the Company secures $40 million inpnefits, for ten years
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following the first commercial sale. In additiofet Court awarded PharmAthene one-third of its nealsle attorneysfees and expert witne
expenses.

In May 2012, the Court entered its final order gnmdigment in this matter, implementing its pt$&l opinion. Among other things, the fii
order and judgment provides that (a) net profitl we calculated in accordance with generally ats@paccounting principles appl
consistently with how they are applied in the prafian of the Company’ financial statements, (b) the net profits caltotawill take intc
account expenses relating to ST-246 commencingtvfCompany’s acquisition of S6 in August 2004, and (c) PharmAthene may re«
$2.4 million of attorneys’ fees and expenses. ABetember 31, 2012, SIGA has recorded a $2.5 miliss contingency with respect to
fee, expense and interest portion of the judgment.

In June 2012, the Company appealed to the Suprevud 6f the State of Delaware the final order amdigjment and certain earlier rulings
the Court of Chancery. Shortly thereafter, PharneAthfiled its crosappeal. The Company obtained a stay of enforcemkttie fee an
expense portion of the judgment by filing a sutetyd for the amount of the judgment plus post-judgiinterest. The Company postet:
million as collateral for the surety bond whichrégorded in other assets as of December 31, 2012.

On July 27, 2012, the Company filed its openinghban appeal, identifying the following points af@: (a) the Court of Chancery errec
holding that the Company breached its obligatiomégotiate in good faith following the terminatioh the PharmAthene merger in 20
(b) the Court of Chancery erred in holding thatii¥thenes assistance enriched the Company and that Phaeméil consequently entit
to relief under the doctrine of promissory estopife) the Court of Chancery erred in awarding feliethe form of an equitable paym
stream; and (d) the Court of Chancery erred in dingrPharmAthene a portion of its attorneys’ faegenses and expert witness costs.

On August 26, 2012, PharmAthene filed its openimgfb answering with respect to the Companyppeal and arguing in support
PharmAthenes cross appeal. With respect to the latter, Phanew# claimed that the Court of Chancery erred infinding that there was
binding license agreement and should have awatritleer specific performance or expectation dama@esSeptember 27, 2012, the Comg.
filed its final brief in response. On October 8,120 PharmAthene filed its final brief in respon¥ée oral argument on the appeal and cros
appeal was heard before the Supreme Court of Dedawa banc, on January 10, 2013 and the Courttt@orguments under advisement.

We expect that the Court of Chanceryinal order and judgment will have a materialtiverse impact on the Company and its future rest
operations unless the appeal and caggseal result in a materially positive change @ pbrtion of the ruling awarding the equitable paw
stream or equitable lien. The Company cannot assioeess on the appeal and cross-appeal.

From time to time, the Company is involved in digsuor legal proceedings arising in the ordinamyrse of business. The Company belit

that there is no dispute or litigation pending, eptcas discussed above, that could have, individaalin the aggregate, a material adv
effect on its financial position, results of op&as or cash flows.
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14. Financial Information By Quarter (Unaudited)

Three Months Ended
2012 March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

(in thousands, except for per share data)

Selling, general and administrative 2,21« 3,47¢ 3,13¢ 2,58:¢

Patent preparation fees 33€ 37€ 377 794

Net income (loss) (4,057 (4,347 (2,940 (3,18¢)

Earnings (loss) per share: diluted $ (0.0 % (0.0 $ (0.06p $ (0.06)

Three Months Ended
2011 March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

(in thousands, except for per share data)

Selling, general and administrative 4,25( 9,351 3,96¢ 6,36

Patent preparation fees 34z 412 482 571

Net income (loss) (4,707 23,84: 21C (5,757%)

Earnings (loss) per share: diluted $ 0.09 $ 044 % — 3 (0.11)

58




Table of Contents

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accounté&on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Cligécutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, &vated the effectiveness of «
disclosure controls and procedures as of Decenmbe2®L2. The term “disclosure controls and procesiuis defined in Rules 13E5(e) an
15d-15(e) under the Securities and Exchange Act of 188hagement recognizes that any disclosure censnodl procedures no matter |
well designed and operated, can only provide resdenassurance of achieving their objectives andag@ment necessarily applies
judgment in evaluating the c-benefit relationship of possible controls and pehaes.

Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive @ffaad Chief Financial Officer have concluded tloat; disclosure controls a
procedures were effective as of December 31, 202Zeasonable level of assurance.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finangal Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and taiaiing adequate internal control over financiglaing, as such term is defir
in Rule 13a-15(f) or Rule 1585(f) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 198dernal control over financial reporting is a pregelesigned
provide reasonable assurance regarding the réjabil financial reporting and the preparation ofaincial statements prepared for exte
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatiog principles. Our internal control over finglcreporting includes those policies
procedures that:

a. pertain to the maintenance of records that, inareasle detail, accurately and fairly reflect thansactions and disposition of
Company’s assets;

b. provide reasonable assurance that transactionseapeded as necessary to permit preparation ohdiah statements in accorda
with generally accepted accounting principles, Hrad receipts and expenditures of the Company airgglmade only in accordar
with authorizations of management and the direabthe Company; and

c. provide reasonable assurance regarding preveotitimely detection of unauthorized acquisitiose or disposition of the Compasy’
assets that could have a material effect on tlenéial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or d@¢taisstatements. Also, projectic
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future pesiage subject to the risk that controls may becimagequate because of changes in condi
or that the degree of compliance with the policeprocedures may deteriorate.

Our management, including our Chief Executive @ifiand Chief Financial Officer, conducted an evidduaof the effectiveness
the Companyg internal control over financial reporting as add@mber 31, 2012. In making this evaluation, mamage used the criteria
forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatiohshe Treadway Commission (the “COSQO”)limternal Control-Integrated Framework .
Based on this evaluation using the COSO criterianagement concluded that the Companwternal control over financial reporting v
effective as of December 31, 2012.

The effectiveness of our internal control over fioial reporting as of December 31, 2012 has beditealiby PricewaterhouseCoof
LLP, an independent registered public accounting,fas stated in their report which appears herein.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There has been no changes in our internal conterl financial reporting during the quarter endea¢@&wgber 31, 2012 that materie
affected, or are reasonably likely to materiallfeaf our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information
None.

59




Table of Contents
PART IlI

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporge Governance

Information required by this item is incorporategtdin by reference from our definitive proxy stagerinfor the 2013 Annual Meeti
of Stockholders.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information required by this item is incorporategtdin by reference from our definitive proxy stagerinfor the 2013 Annual Meeti
of Stockholders.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @Qvners and Management and Related Stockholder Matter

Information required by this item is incorporatestdin by reference from our definitive proxy stagerfor the 2013 Annual Meeti
of Stockholders.

Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table sets forth certain compensaptan information with respect to compensation plas of December 31, 2012:

Number of Securities to be Weighted-average Number of Securities
Issued Upon Exercise of Exercise Price of Available for Future
Outstanding Options, Outstanding Options, Issuance under Equity
Plan Category Warrants and Rights (1) Warrants and Rights Compensation Plans (2)
Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders 5,610,071 $ 3.84 2,660,55!
Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders — N/A —
Total 5,610,07! 2,660,55!

(1) Consists of the 1996 Incentive and Non-QuadifStock Option Plan and the 2010 Stock Incentiaa.P
(2) Consists of the 2010 Stock Incentive Plan.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transa@ns, and Director Independence

Information required by this item is incorporategtdin by reference from our definitive proxy stagerinfor the 2013 Annual Meeti
of Stockholders.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Information required by this item is incorporategtdin by reference from our definitive proxy stagerinfor the 2012 Annual Meeti
of Stockholders.
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PART IV

Iltem 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) (1) and (2). Financial Statements and Financi@tatements Schedule.

See Index to Financial Statements under Item & IPhereof where these documents are listed.

(@) (3). Exhibits.

The following is a list of exhibits:

Exhibit
No.

Description

3(a)

3(b)

3(c)

4(a)

4(b)

4(c)

10(a)

10(b)

10(c)

10(d)

10(e)

10(f)

10(9)

1NIh\

Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Compamcdrporated by reference to the FornB Registration Statement of t
Company dated May 10, 2000 (No. 333-36682)).

Form of Certificate of Amendment of the Restatedtifieate of Incorporation of SIGA Technologies,cln(incorporated b
reference to the Proxy Statement on Schedule 14heo€ompany dated June 15, 2007).

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (incatpd by reference to the Annual Report on ForniK1df-the Compan
for the year ended December 31, 2008), as amenddtebAmendment to the Bylaws of the Company (ipooated by referenc
to the Current Report on Form 8-K of the Compatedfiviarch 12, 2009).

Form of Common Stock Certificate (incorporated bference to the Form SB-Registration Statement of the Company d
March 10, 1997 (No. 333-23037)).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of Aug8st2D03, between the Company and MacAndrews & FoH@dings Inc
(incorporated by reference to the Current Repoff@mm 8-K of the Company filed on August 18, 2003).

Form of Warrant to purchase shares of common sté¢ke Company, issued to MacAndrews & Forbes, ldriCJune 19, 20(C
(incorporated by reference to the Current Repoffam 8-K of the Company filed on June 23, 2008).

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of Audjs2d03, between the Company and MacAndrews & FoH@dings Inc
(incorporated by reference to the Current Repoifam 8-K of the Company filed on August 18, 2003).

Letter Agreement dated October 8, 2003 among threpgaay, MacAndrews & Forbes Holdings Inc. and TrawTPharma, In
(incorporated by reference to the Current Repoffa@mm 8-K of the Company filed on August 18, 2003).

Director Compensation Program, effective April 2005 (incorporated by reference to the Current Repo Form 8K of the
Company filed on April 26, 2005).

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of Noveb2005, between Iroquois Master Fund Ltd., Craas@apital, L.P.
Omicron Master Trust, Smithfield Fiduciary LLC atice Company (incorporated by reference to the @uReport on Form &
of the Company filed on November 4, 2005).

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of Octb®eP006, between the Company, Iroquois Master Hudd Cranshir
Capital, L.P., Omicron Master Trust, Rockmore Inwent Master Fund, Ltd., and Smithfield FiduciayQ_(incorporated b
reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K ofGleenpany filed on October 20, 2006).

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dateaf danuary 22, 2007, between the Company and BeBniHruby
(incorporated by reference to the Current Repoffa@m 8-K of the Company filed on January 22, 2007)

Amended Employment Agreement dated December 311,20 anuary 27, 2007 Employment Agreement (adet® betwee
the Company and Dr. Hruby (incorporated by refeegiocthe Current Report on Fornk8sf the Company filed on December |
2011).

Qarirritine Diirchaca Anraamant datad ac naf NeAthRaPNNA haohaniaan tha Camnanv  Irnniinic Mactar Cibndd Cranchin
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Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dateaf danuary 22, 2007, between the Company and BeBniHruby
(incorporated by reference to the Current Repoff@m 8-K of the Company filed on January 22, 2007)

Amended Employment Agreement dated December 31,,200anuary 27, 2007 Employment Agreement (asded betwee
the Company and Dr. Hruby (incorporated by refeeetacthe Current Report on FornK8ef the Company filed on Decemt
27, 2011).

Letter Agreement, dated as of June 19, 2008, betweeCompany and MacAndrews & Forbes, LLC (incoaped by referenc
to the Current Report on Form 8-K of the Compatedfion June 23, 2008).

Contract, dated September 1, 2008, between the @woyrgnd the National Institutes of Health, DHHS: ¢irporated by referen
to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Compianyhe quarter ending September 30, 2008).

Modification of Contract, dated September 17, 2d@8ween the Company and the National Institutlrgy and Infectiou:
Diseases of the National Institutes of Health (ipooated by reference to the Quarterly Report amF0-Q of the Company fc
the quarter ending September 30, 2008).

Employment Agreement, dated as of January 31, 280&tWeen the Company and Eric A. Rose (incorporbyeceference to tr
Current Report on Form R-of the Company filed on January 31, 2007), asraied and restated (as set forth in the Cu
Report on Form 8-K of the Company filed on Novembgr2008).

Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated March20D9, between the Company and Dennis E. Hruby (purated b
reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K ofGlenpany filed on March 12, 2009).

Employment Agreement dated as of February 10, 20dtlyeen SIGA and Daniel J. Luckshire (incorpordigdeference to tk
Current Report on Form 8-K of the Company filedrabruary 16, 2011).

Extension Letter Agreement, dated April 29, 2008tween MacAndrews & Forbes LLC and the Companyofiparated b
reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K ofGeenpany filed on April 30, 2009).

Form of Consideration Warrants (incorporated bgrefice to the Current Report on ForriK 8f the Company filed on April 3I
2009).

Form of Subscription Agreement (incorporated byerefice to the Current Report on FornkK &f the Company filed o
December 10, 2009).

2010 Stock Incentive Plan dated May 13, 2010 (iporated by reference to the Definitive Proxy Stashon Schedule 14A
the Company filed on April 12, 2010).

Amendment to the SIGA Technologies, Inc. 2010 Stockentive Plan (incorporated by reference to toer€ht Report on For
8-K of the Company filed on May 17, 2011).

Deferred Closing and Registration Rights Agreemdated as of June 18, 2010, between MacAndrews r&esoLLC and th
Company (incorporated by reference to the Curreudr on Form 8-K of the Company filed on JuneZ?10).

Separation and Consulting Agreement dated as ofuBep 25, 2011, between SIGA and Ayelet Dugary diporated b
reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K ofGleenpany filed on March 3, 2011).

Contract dated as of May 13, 2011, between SIGAthadBiomedical Advanced Research and Developmeittadiity of the
United States Department of Health and Human Sesvjportions of this exhibit have been omitted seplarately filed with th
Securities and Exchange Commission with a requestdnfidential treatment) (incorporated by refeeemo the Current Repc
on Form 8-K of the Company filed on May 17, 2011).

Amendment of Solicitation/Modification of Contradated as of June 24, 2011, to Agreement dated sspfl3, 2011, betwe
SIGA and the Biomedical Advanced Research and Dewednt Authority of the United States Departmenitiealth and Huma
Services (portions of this exhibit have been ordid separately filed with the Securities and Brge Commission with
request for confidential treatment) (incorporatgdréference to the Current Report on Ford 8f the Company filed on Jui
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Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated NovemBer2008, between the Company and Dr. Eric Rosefjiarated b
reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K ofGeenpany filed on January 13, 2012).

Amendment to the SIGA 2010 Stock Incentive Plaodiporated by reference to the Current Report amrK of the Compan
filed on February 2, 2012).

Amendment of Solicitation/Modification of Contradated as of September 28, 2011, to Agreement detesf May 13, 201:
between SIGA and the Biomedical Advanced ReseardiDeevelopment Authority of the United States Dépant of Health an
Human Services (portions of this exhibit have bemitted and separately filed with teh Securitied &xchange Commissit
with a request for confidential treatment) (incalgded by reference to the Current Report on Forr@ld¥ the Company filed ¢
May 7, 2012).

Amendment of Solicitation/Modification of Contradated as of October 7, 2011, to Agreement datedfadday 13, 2011
between SIGA and the Biomedical Advanced ReseardiDevelopment Authority of the United States Dépent of Health an
Human Services (portions of this exhibit have bemiitted and separately filed with the Securitied &xchange Commissic
with a request for confidential treatment) (incagted by reference to the Current Report on Forr 1df the Company filed ¢
May 7, 2012).

Amendment of Solicitation/Modification of Contradated as of January 25, 2012 to Agreement, dateof d4ay 13, 2011
between SIGA and the Biomedical Advanced ReseardiDevelopment Authority of the United States Dépent of Health an
Human Services (portions of this exhibit have bemritted and separately filed with the Securitied &xchange Commissic
with a request for confidential treatment) (incagted by reference to the Current Report on Forr Idf the Company filed ¢
May 7, 2012).

Amendment of Solicitation/Modification of Contradated as of February 7, 2012, to Agreement, dasedfavay 13, 2011
between SIGA and the Biomedical Advanced ReseardiDeevelopment Authority of the United States Dépant of Health an
Human Services (incorporated by reference to thee@tuReport on Form 10-Q of the Company filed oayM, 2012).

Amendment to the SIGA 2010 Stock Incentive Plaodiporated by reference to the Current Report amrK of the Compan
filed on May 25, 2012).

Employment Agreement dated as of June 4, 2012, destv6IGA and William J. Haynes Il (incorporated rejerence to th
Current Report on Form 8-K of the Company filedJone 4, 2012).

Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of DecembeRP@12, between General Electric Capital Corponatind the Compat
(incorporated by reference to the Current Repoff@m 8-K of the Company filed on January 1, 2013).

Amendment of Solicitation/Modification of Contradated as of December 19, 2012, to Agreement, deted May 13, 2011,
between SIGA and the Biomedical Advanced ReseardiDevelopment Authority of the United States Dépant of Health and
Human Services (portions of this exhibit have beeritted and separately filed with the Securitied Bmchange Commission
with a request for confidential treatment).

The Company’s Code of Ethics and Business Condncbrporated by reference to the Annual Report omF10KSB of the
Company for the year ended December 31, 2003).

Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourking.

Certification pursuant to Rules 13a-15(e) or 15de) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934dapted pursuant to Sect
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 — Chief ExigeuOfficer.

Certification pursuant to Rules 13a-15(e) or 15de) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934dapted pursuant to Sect
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 — Chief FaiarOfficer.

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 13%0adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbamksr@.ct of 2002 —Chief
Executive Officer.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this repot
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theoeduly authorized.

SIGA TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
(Registrant)

Date: March 6, 2013 By: Is/Eric A. Rose
Eric A. Rose, M.D.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpwhe following persons
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities@mthe dates indicated.

Signature Title of Capacities Date
/sl Eric A. Rose
Eric A. Rose, M.D. Chairman and Chief Executive Officer March 6, 2013

(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Daniel J. Luckshire

Daniel J. Luckshire Executive Vice President and March 6, 2013
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer)

/9 James J. Antal
James J. Antal Director March 6, 2013

/s Michael J. Bayer
Michael J. Bayer Director March 6, 2013

/< William C. Bevins
William C. Bevins Director March 6, 2013

/s Thomas E. Constance

Thomas E. Constance Director March 6, 2013
/9 Joseph Mar shall

Joseph Marshall Director March 6, 2013
/9 Paul G. Savas

Paul G. Savas Director March 6, 2013

/9 Bruce Sovin

Bruce Slovin Director March 6, 2013
/9 Andrew Stern
Andrew Stern Director March 6, 2013

/9 Frances Fragos Townsend
Frances Fragos Townsend Director March 6, 2013




/9 Michael Weiner

Michael Weiner, M.D. Director March 6, 2013
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AMENDMENT OF SOLICITATION/MODIFICATION OF CONTRA CT 1. CONTRACT ID CODE PAGE OF PAGES

N/A 1 3
2. AMENDMENT/MODIFICATION NO 3. EFFECTIVE DATE |4. REQUISITION/PURCHASE REQ. NO 5. PROJECT NO(If applicable)
Modification 0006 See Block 16 C N/A
6. ISSUED BY CODE N/A 7. ADMINISTERED BY If other than Item 6 ) CODE | N/A
DHHS/ASPR/AMCG
330 Independence Avenue, SW,
Room G640,
Washington, DC 20201
8. NAME AND ADDRESS OF CONTRACTORNo., street, county, State and ZIP Code) (X) |9A. AMENDMENT OF SOLICITATION NO.

SIGA TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
35 E 62nd Street

9B. DATED (SEEITEM 11)
New York, NY 10065

10A.MODIFICATION OF CONTRACT/ ORDER NO.
X HHSO0100201100001C

10B. DATED (SEE ITEM 13)
CODE N/A FACILITY CODE N/A 05/13/2011

11. THIS ITEM ONLY APPLIES TO AMENDMENTS OF SOLI CITATIONS

D The above numbered solicitation is amended af®shtin Iltem 14. The hour and date specified fareipt of OffersD is extendedD is not extended.

Offers must acknowledge receipt of this amendmebt o the hour and date specified in the solt@taor as amended, by one of the following meth¢alsBy completing ltems 8 and 15, and returning
___copies of the amendment; (b) By acknowledgingipta# this amendment on each copy of the offemsitted; or (c) By separate letter or telegram whittiudes a reference to the solicitation and
amendment numbers. FAILURE OF YOUR ACKNOWLEDGEMEN®D BE RECEIVED AT THE PLACE DESIGNATED FOR THE REGE OF OFFERS PRIOR TO THE HOUR AND DATE
SPECIFIED MAY RESULT IN REJECTION OF YOUR OFFER by virtue of this amendment, you desire to chamyeffer already submitted, such change may be foadelegram or letter, provided
each telegram or letter makes reference to theisdion and this amendment, and is received poidne opening hour and date specified.

12. ACCOUNTING AND APPROPRIATION DATA (f required ) N/A
FY: 2013 CAN: 1992002 O.C.: 25106 Amount: $27,928,80

13. THIS ITEM APPLIES ONLY TO MODIFICATIONS OF C ONTRACTS/ORDERS, IT MODIFIES THE CONTRACT/ORDER NO. AS DESCRIBED IN ITEM
14.

(U) [A. THIS CHANGE ORDER IS ISSUED PURSUANT TQpecify authority) THE CHANGES SET FORTH IN ITEM 14 ARE MADE IN THEONTRACT ORDER
NO. IN ITEM 10A.

B. THE ABOVE NUMBERED CONTRACT/ORDER IS MODIFIED TREFLECT THE ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGES uch as changes in paying office,
appropriation date, etc. ) SET FORTH IN ITEM 14, PURSUANT TO THE AUTHORITY IOFAR 43.103(b).

C. THIS SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT IS ENTERED INTO PURBNT TO AUTHORITY OF:
X FAR 52.243-2 Changes — Cost Reimboesg, (Aug1987) and mutual agreement of the Parties

D. OTHER (Specify type of modification and authority )

E. IMPORTANT: Contractor [] is not, [X] is required sign this document and return _Xopies to the issuing office.

14. DESCRIPTION OF AMENDMENT/MODIFICATION Organized by UCF section headings, including solicitation/contract subject matter where feasible )
PURPOSE: To (1) revise section B.5 Price Schedule, by addufgdjtional funds and activities to CLIN 0007, é)d additional funds and activities to CLIN
0009, (3) revise section F.1. period of performadjand revise Section H.14 Key Personnel. Seéraation sheet.

FUNDS ALLOTED PRIOR TO MOD #6 $435,467,220.00

FUNDS ALLOTTED WITH MOD #6_$27,926,401.00

TOTAL FUNDS ALLOTED TO DATE $463,393,621.00 (Chamf)e
EXPIRATION DATE: September 24, 2020 (Changed)
CONTRACT FUNDED THROUGH: September 24, 2020 (Chat)ge

Except as provided herein, all terms and conditafrtie document referenced in Item 9A or 10A, eetofore changed, remains unchanged and in fidéfand effect

16A. NAME AND TITLE OF CONTRACTING OFFICER Typeor print)
15A. NAME AND TITLE OF SIGNER (Typeor print) Darrick A. Early, Contracting Officer
Dennis E. Hruby, Chief Scientific Officer DHHS/ASPR/AMCG
15B. CONTRACTOR/OFFEROR 15C. DATE SIGNED |16B. UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 16C. DATE SIGNED
[s/ Dennis E. Hruby BY /[s/ Darrick A. Early
( Signature of person authorized to sign)) 19 Dec 2012 (Signature of Contracting Officer ) 19 Dec 2012

NSN 754(-01-152-8070 OMB No. 0990—01ETANDARD FORM 30 (REV. 10-83)



Contract No. Continuation Sheet
HHS0100201100001C Page 2 of 3

Modification No.6 Block 14

1. The Price Schedule for contract HHS0O100201100001C is revised as follows.

In support of activities in Section C. Statement of Objective, paragraph C.1, C.2.and C.4, funds in the amount of
[redacted]*

In support of activities in Section J - List of Attachments, Item 7 Security and Information Technology Plan
Requirements funds in the amount of [redacted]*

CLIN 0007 and CLIN 0009 are revised as follows

CLIN# Cost
Type Supply or Service Estimated Cost Fee Total CPFF
Supportive Studies (Clinical/Non-
Clinical) to include, but not limited to
7 CPFF [stability, non-clinical, and clinical
studies as described in Sections
C.2,and C.4) [redacted]* [redacted]* [redacted]*
9 CPEE Information Technology Security, as
described in Section J [redacted]* [redacted]* [redacted]*
To:
CLIN# Cost
Type Supply or Service Estimated Cost Fee Total CPFF
Supportive Studies (Clinical/Non-
Clinical) to include, but not limited to
7 CPFF [stability, non-clinical, and clinical
studies as described in Sections
C.2,and C.4) [redacted]* [redacted]* [redacted]*
9 CPEE Information Technology Security, as
described in Section J [redacted]* [redacted]* [redacted]*




2. Section B.6. Advanced Understandings is revised by adding the following:

B.6.3[redacted]*
B.6.4[redacted]*
3. Section B.8.1 is revised by adding the following:

Manufacturing lots [redacted]* will count towards the required initial delivery of 500,000.

4. As aresult of the accepted Supplemental Technical and Cost Proposal of [redacted]*, Section F.1. Period of
Performance is revised from May 16, 2011 — May 15, 2016 to May 16, 2011 — September 24, 2020.

Contract No. Continuation Sheet
HHS0100201100001C Page 3 of 3
Modification No.6 Block 14

5. Section H.14. Key Personnel is revised removing [redacted]*.

6. Supplemental Technical and Cost Proposal of [redacted]* is hereby incorporated by reference as an attachment to
Section J of the Contract.

All other terms and conditions of contract HHS0100201100001C remain unchanged.

END OF MODIFICATION 6 TO HHS0100201100001C



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémtlee Registration Statements on Form S-3 (N88:139756 and 333-138796) and on
Form S-8 (Nos. 333-183101, 333-167329, 333-1128335;56216 and 333-35992) of SIGA Technologies, ¢fi@ur report dated March 6,
2013 relating to the financial statements and ffectiveness of internal control over financial oging, which appears in this Form-1K.

/s/ PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

New York, New York
March 6, 2013



Exhibit 31.1

Certification by Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Eric A. Rose, M.D., certify that:

| have reviewed this annual report on FornKléF SIGA Technologies, Inc
Based on my knowledge, this report does not corgajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtade a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts under which such statements were made, nt#adisg with respect to t
period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements,aher financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’ other certifying officer and | are responsible éstablishing and maintaining disclosure conteoid procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange /
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresgused such disclosure controls and procedares tiesigned under «
supervision, to ensure that material informatiotatneg to the registrant, including its consolidhtsubsidiaries, is ma
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isihg prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr; or caused such internal control over finahi@orting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assaraegarding the reliability of financial repodimnd the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in ataace with generally accepted accounting principles

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtihis report our conclusio
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contral$ procedures, as of the end of the period coveyetlis report based
such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in theistegnt's internal control over financial reporting thatcomred during th
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regrdts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuabrg that has material
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaf, the registrant’s internal control over finateeporting; and

5. The registran$’ other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdxh on our most recent evaluation of internal abrdver financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitasmmmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing thevedent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakresssn the design or operation of internal contneérofinancial reportin
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect thgistrants ability to record, process, summarize and refinancia
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesmagement or other employees who have a signifioalet in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: March 6, 2013

/9 Eric A. Rose
Eric A. Rose, M.D.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

Certification by Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Daniel J. Luckshire, certify that:

| have reviewed this annual report on FornKl6F SIGA Technologies, Inc
Based on my knowledge, this report does not corgajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtade a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts under which such statements were made, nt#adisg with respect to t
period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements,aher financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’ other certifying officer and | are responsible éstablishing and maintaining disclosure conteoid procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange /
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresgused such disclosure controls and procedares tiesigned under «
supervision, to ensure that material informatiotatneg to the registrant, including its consolidhtsubsidiaries, is ma
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isihg prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr; or caused such internal control over finahi@orting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assaraegarding the reliability of financial repodimnd the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in ataace with generally accepted accounting principles

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtihis report our conclusio
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contral$ procedures, as of the end of the period coveyetlis report based
such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in theistegnt's internal control over financial reporting thatcomred during th
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regrdts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuabrg that has material
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaf, the registrant’s internal control over finateeporting; and

5. The registran$’ other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdxh on our most recent evaluation of internal abrdver financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitasmmmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing thevedent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakresssn the design or operation of internal contneérofinancial reportin
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect thgistrants ability to record, process, summarize and refinancia
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesmagement or other employees who have a signifioalet in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: March 6, 2013

/s/ Daniel J. Luckshire
Daniel J. Luckshire

Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of SIGA Techogies, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form X0for the period ended December
2012 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Cimsion on the date hereof (the “Report))Eric A. Rose, M.D., Chief Executive Officer
the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 8 1280adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbarley Act of 2002, that to the best
my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementseétion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExchangeoA 1934; an

(2) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finanmialdition and results of operations of the
Company.

A signed original of this written statement reqdifgy Section 906 has been provided to the Compadyvall be retained by tt
Company and furnished to the Securities and Exah&@uammission or its staff upon request.

/9 Eric A. Rose

Eric A. Rose, M.D.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
March 6, 2013




Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of SIGA Techogies, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form X0for the period ended December
2012 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Csion on the date hereof (the “Report;)Daniel J. Luckshire, Executive Vice Presic
and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certifyrsuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted purdoaBection 906 of the Sarban@siey
Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementseétion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExchangeoA 1934; an

(2) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finanmialdition and results of operations of the
Company.

A signed original of this written statement reqdifgy Section 906 has been provided to the Compadyvall be retained by tt
Company and furnished to the Securities and Exah&@anmission or its staff upon request.

/< Danidl J. Luckshire
Daniel J. Luckshire

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office
March 6, 2013




